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Total Net Sales
Total net sales increased 12% from $540.9 million to 
$606.9 million.

Net sales from US Fibre Cement increased 19% from $373.0
million to $444.8 million due to continuing growth in demand for
fibre cement and higher selling prices.

Net sales from Asia Pacific Fibre Cement fell 6% from $166.6
million to $156.9 million due to unfavourable exchange rate
movements. In Australian dollars, net sales increased 2%.  

US Fibre Cement
Sales revenue increased 19% from $373.0 million to 
$444.8 million.

Sales volume increased 16% from 852.3 million square feet to
988.5 million square feet as a result of continued growth in
demand for fibre cement despite weaker market conditions during
the second and third quarters.

The average selling price increased 3% from $438 per thousand
square feet to $450 per thousand square feet as a result of an

increase in the sales of differentiated products and higher selling
prices for standard products in certain markets, partly offset by a
lower average selling price from the Cemplank business, acquired
in December 2001.

Sales of differentiated products such as Harditrim™, vented soffits,
and Heritage®‚ panels continued to experience strong growth, as
did Hardibacker 500™, the Company’s new 1/2 inch backerboard
using the Company’s new proprietary G2 technology.

A number of new products were launched during the year and are
generating increased demand. A new series of pre-finished plank
products known as the ColorPlus™ collection was launched, as
well as four new siding products, Heritage Plank™, EZ Line
Plank™, HardiPlank Rusticated™ and Shingle Panel™.

Construction of the second production line in Waxahachie, Texas
was completed during the year and continued to ramp up. 

Further capacity was added during the year with the acquisition 
of the operating assets of Cemplank, Inc, a US-based producer of
fibre cement building products. The acquisition included a two-line
fibre cement manufacturing plant in Blandon, Pennsylvania and a

(Millions of US dollars) 2001 2002 % Change
Net Sales
US Fibre Cement $ 373.0 $ 444.8 19 
Asia Pacific Fibre Cement 166.6 156.9 (6)
Other 1.3 5.2 300
Total Net Sales 540.9 606.9 12

Net sales $ 540.9 $ 606.9 12
Cost of goods sold (360.8) (401.6) 11
Gross profit 180.1 205.3 14
SG&A (123.7) (130.3) 5
EBIT before restructuring and other operating expenses 56.4 75.0 33
Restructuring and other operating expenses (15.5) (28.1) 81
EBIT 40.9 46.9 15
Net interest expense (13.2) (16.0) 21
Other income (expense), net 1.6 (0.4) (125)
Income from continuing operations before income taxes 29.3 30.5 4
Income tax benefit (expense) 0.3 (3.9) –
Income from continuing operations 29.6 26.6 (10)

Net Income1 $ 38.2 $ 29.3 (23)

Volume (mmsf) 
US Fibre Cement 852.3 988.5 16 
Asia Pacific Fibre Cement 318.9 320.7 1 

Average sales price per unit (per msf) 
US Fibre Cement US$ 438 US$ 450 3
Asia Pacific Fibre Cement A$ 857 A$ 861 1

All results are for continuing operations unless otherwise stated.

1 Includes discontinued operations related to Windows and Gypsum.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
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single-line plant in Summerville, South Carolina. The acquisition
adds 310 million square feet of capacity in key growth regions 
and increases the Company’s installed or committed US fibre
cement annual production capacity to approximately 2.150 billion
square feet.

A smooth integration of Cemplank’s operations into the James
Hardie business has been achieved ahead of schedule. Customer
retention rates were above planned levels and the conversion 
of the plants at Blandon, Pennsylvania and Summerville, South
Carolina to James Hardie specifications has been proceeding in
line with the Company’s expectations.

On 14 February 2002 the Company announced that it had
developed a new fibre cement production technology and that 
it will begin commercial production trials of a new generation of
roofing products for the United States market. The Company
plans a two-stage entry into the large United States roofing
products market. The first stage involves construction of a 
small-scale manufacturing plant to conduct commercial
production and market trials. If the first stage is completed
successfully, the Company intends to develop a large-scale
national roofing business in the United States.

Asia Pacific Fibre Cement
Sales revenue fell 6% from $166.6 million to $156.9 million. Sales
volume increased 1% from 318.9 million square feet to 320.7
million square feet.

Australia
Sales revenue decreased 9% from $111.0 million to $100.7
million. In local currency, sales revenue decreased 2%.

Sales volume was almost unchanged at 219.5 million square feet
from 219.4 million square feet. The flat comparison was affected
by the downturn in the new residential housing market during the
first quarter of fiscal year 2002, and the impact of the first four
months of the previous fiscal year being abnormally buoyed by
pre GST (Goods and Services Tax) activity.

Demand for FRC Pipes grew during the year resulting in a 15%
increase in sales volumes compared to the previous fiscal year.

Lower interest rates and the Government’s First Home Owners
Scheme had a positive impact on the building industry during 
the second, third and fourth quarters of fiscal year 2002.
However, new residential building activity was still below the 
level of the previous year.

The average net selling price fell 2% due to competitive pricing
strategies including lower net selling prices for FRC Pipes. 

New Zealand
Sales revenue was unchanged at $38.0 million for the year due 
to unfavourable exchange rate differences. In local currency, sales
revenue increased 5% due to higher selling prices.

Fibre cement sales volume decreased 1% from 36.6 million
square feet to 36.4 million square feet due to low demand in the
new residential housing market, partially offset by increased sales
volumes to the commercial building market and sales of
Hardiglaze™ to the Australian market. 

A new, innovative weatherboard cladding system called Linea®‚
was launched nationally during the year. The product is a thicker,
lightweight weatherboard that incorporates the Company’s
proprietary low-density technology and offers a number of
performance advantages over timber weatherboards, notably
superior durability. There has been a positive customer response
to Linea®, which is expected to lead to strong sales growth. 

Average net fibre cement selling prices increased 3% as a result
of a price increase that became effective on 1 August 2001.

Philippines
Sales revenue increased 3% from $17.6 million to $18.2 million. 
In local currency, sales revenue increased 15%. This was due to 
a 3% increase in sales volume from 62.9 million square feet to
64.8 million square feet resulting largely from increased export
sales and an 11% increase in the average net selling price.

The increase in the average net selling price was a result of a
change in the product mix resulting from a higher level of export
sales and sales of the new HardiFlex lite® product, which was
launched in the third quarter. HardiFlex lite® is a thinner, lighter
sheet designed for ceiling applications in the repair and
replacement segment of the market. Strong demand for this
product is helping the business to take further market share 
from plywood.

Domestic demand was stronger in the second half of the fiscal
year compared to the first half following an improvement in
consumer confidence and general economic conditions.

Other Fibre Cement
Chile Fibre Cement
The Chilean operation began commercial production in March
2001. During its first year of operation, the business successfully
launched its EconoBoard™ and DuraBoard™ products. The
business is still in start-up mode but has already successfully
penetrated the Chilean market capturing around 20% of fibre
cement flat sheet sales. 

The business is encountering a strong competitive reaction to 
its market entry as expected and has employed pricing strategies
to counter the competition accordingly.

Both EconoBoard™, targeted to builders of small-scale homes
and additions and the “Do-It-Yourself” (DIY) market, distributed
through retail stores, and DuraBoard™, targeted to larger scale
builders mainly in the social housing sector, experienced strong
sales growth during the year.

The business secured access to important distribution channels
and penetrated its targeted market segments at the desired rate.

US FRC Pipes
FRC Pipes commenced production at a new plant in Florida in
March 2001. The pipes are being sold in the southeast region 
of the United States. They have been well received with sales
volumes increasing each quarter. 

The ramp up of manufacturing during the year resulted in larger
diameter pipes being progressively added to the product range,
enabling the business to compete for an increasing number of
construction projects.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis continued
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As the plant ramps up production, significant improvements are
being incorporated into the manufacturing process.

The range of pipes being manufactured and sold in the southeast
market now includes 12", 15", 18", 24", 30" and 36" drainage pipes.

During the year, the business secured three national distributors,
which are helping to generate increased demand for FRC Pipes 
in the southeast market and provide a platform for future sales
growth across the United States.

There continued to be underlying growth in civil construction
during the year partly assisted by the TEA-21 and the Florida
State Mobility Act, which involve significant increases in government
spending on highway construction. Activity in the commercial
development sector has also been strong during the year.

Gross Profit
Gross profit was up 14% from $180.1 million to $205.3 million
due to an increase in gross profit for US Fibre Cement and Asia
Pacific Fibre Cement, which was partially offset by gross losses
from FRC Pipes and Chile Fibre Cement. The gross profit margin
increased 0.5 of a percentage point to 33.8%.

US Fibre Cement gross profit increased 23% and the gross profit
margin increased 1.0 percentage point as a result of higher sales
volumes, higher average net selling prices and lower unit freight
costs.

Asia Pacific Fibre Cement gross profit increased 1% and the gross
profit margin increased 2.4 percentage points. The Australia gross
profit margin increased 1.8 percentage points as a result of
savings gained from the closure of the Western Australia plant.
The gross profit margin for New Zealand and the Philippines
increased 4.0 percentage points and 7.5 percentage points,
respectively.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses (SG&A)
SG&A expenses increased 5% from $123.7 million to 
$130.3 million. SG&A expenses were higher for all businesses
other than the Philippines, which reduced its SG&A by 50%
compared to the previous fiscal year. As a percentage of sales,
SG&A expenses decreased by 1.4 percentage points.

The higher SG&A expense was due to an increase in core R&D
expenditure and the current year including a full year of SG&A for
the FRC Pipes operation in Florida and the new fibre cement flat
sheet operation in Chile.

Research and Development
SG&A expenses include research and development costs.
Research and development includes costs associated with ‘core’
research projects, which are aimed at benefiting all fibre cement
business units. These costs are expensed as ‘corporate costs’
rather than being attributed to individual units and increased 
$3.5 million to $10.0 million due to an increase in the number 
of ‘core’ research projects.

Costs associated with development projects by individual
business units are included in the business units’ segment results.
In total, these costs decreased 30% to $5.9 million reflecting the
completion of a number of projects now being commercialised by
the business units. 

Restructuring and Other Operating Expenses
On 14 February 2002, a Washington State Court approved a
Class Action Settlement Agreement for all product, warranty and
property related liability claims associated with certain roofing
products, which were previously manufactured and sold by the
US Fibre Cement business. Although the Settlement Agreement
applies nationally in the United States, the overwhelming majority
of the roofing claims have related to products sold in the Pacific
Northwest region. These products were removed from the
marketplace in 1995.

The Company has recorded a charge of $12.6 million in the
current period to cover the estimated cost of the settlement, 
and the estimated cost of any other pending claims or lawsuits
remaining which are not covered by the settlement, as well as all
related costs that may be paid under the class action settlement.

Due to the implementation of a new US accounting standard 
on 1 April 2001, which required that the Company’s derivative
contracts be marked to market each quarter, an $8.1 million
decrease in the fair value of the contract has been charged to
other operating expenses in the current period. This charge is 
not related to the termination of the Company’s pulp hedge
contract with Enron, which terminated as a result of that 
company going into bankruptcy in December 2001.

Also charged to restructuring and other operating expenses was
$7.4 million relating to the corporate restructuring. There was a
charge of $15.5 million for restructuring of the Asia Pacific fibre
cement operation in the same period last year.

Operating Income (EBIT)
EBIT before restructuring and other operating expenses, which
are detailed above, increased 33% from $56.4 million to $75.0
million. The EBIT margin before restructuring and other operating
expenses increased 2.0 percentage points to 12.4%.

EBIT after restructuring and other operating expenses increased
15% from $40.9 million to $46.9 million. The EBIT margin after
restructuring and other operating expenses increased 0.2
percentage points to 7.7%.

US Fibre Cement EBIT before restructuring and other operating
expenses increased 34% from $73.5 million to $98.4 million due
primarily to higher sales volumes, a higher average selling price
and lower unit freight cost, partly offset by higher SG&A
expenses. The EBIT margin before restructuring and other
operating expenses increased 2.4 percentage points to 22.1%.

US Fibre Cement EBIT after restructuring and other operating
expenses increased 17% from $73.5 million to $85.8 million. 
The current year includes an “other operating expense” of 
$12.6 million to cover the estimated cost of the class action
settlement for roofing products referred to above.

Australia Fibre Cement EBIT before restructuring and other
operating expenses decreased 14% from $21.4 million to 
$18.4 million. In local currency, EBIT before restructuring and
other operating expenses decreased 7% due to lower net selling
prices and increased SG&A costs. The EBIT margin before 
restructuring and other operating expenses fell 1.0 percentage 
point to 18.3%.
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Australia Fibre Cement EBIT after restructuring and other operating
expenses referred to above increased 212% from $5.9 million to
$18.4 million.

New Zealand Fibre Cement EBIT increased 30% from $4.0 million
to $5.2 million. In local currency, EBIT increased 35%. The
increase was primarily due to improved margins in fibre cement
and the building systems operation.

The Philippines EBIT loss of the previous year was reduced by
$4.3 million to $1.2 million. The improvement was due mainly 
to higher margins from higher average prices and lower
manufacturing and SG&A costs. The business was cashflow
positive for the full year.

Both US FRC Pipes and Chile Fibre Cement incurred operating
losses during the year mainly as a result of start up costs.

General corporate costs increased by $13.8 million to $43.1
million. Restructuring and other operating expenses increased 
by $4.9 million, the fair value liability of the derivative contracts
increased by $8.1 million and there was an increase of $6.6
million in the charge for employee share plans, calculated on the
Company’s share price, which increased significantly during the
quarter. Excluding restructuring and other operating expenses and
on-going costs such as the share plan and fair value of the pulp
hedge contract, corporate costs fell 25%.

Interest Expense
Net interest expense increased by $2.8 million to $16.0 million.
This was primarily due to higher net borrowings during the 
current period.

Income Tax Expense
Income tax expense increased by $4.2 million to $3.9 million,
primarily due to a reduced effect of permanent differences.

Net Operating Profit 
Income from continuing operations fell 10% from $29.6 million 
to $26.6 million.

Sale of James Hardie Gypsum
On March 13, 2002, the Company signed agreements to sell its
US-based Gypsum operation to BPB plc. The transaction was
completed on April 25, 2002 for $345.0 million. Results from the
Gypsum business have been presented as part of discontinued
operations.

Balance Sheet
Total current assets decreased by $19.6 million to $238.1 million
at March 31, 2002, primarily due to a $44.0 million decrease in
cash balances, which was partially offset by a $32.6 million
increase in accounts receivable. The increase in accounts
receivable reflects the increase in US Fibre Cement sales in the
current year and many large customers making early payments 
in March 2001, which would have otherwise been received in the
current period.

Total non-current assets increased by $30.8 million to 
$675.4 million at March 31, 2002, principally due to the $59.4
million increase in property, plant and equipment, which was
partially offset by the decrease in net non-current assets for
discontinued operations of $18.8 million. The increase in property,
plant and equipment reflects $30.9 million from the acquisition of
Cemplank, Inc in December 2001 and capital additions of $50.8
million, which was partially offset by depreciation expense of
$23.5 million. Capital expenditures during fiscal 2002 were
primarily made for the second production lines in Waxahachie,
Texas and Peru, Illinois.

Total current liabilities decreased by $49.7 million to $123.1 million
at March 31, 2002 mainly due to a $69.9 million decrease in
short-term borrowings.

Total non-current liabilities decreased by $28.4 million to 
$420.0 million at March 31, 2002 predominately due to a 
$32.3 million decrease in long-term borrowings.

Cash Flow
Net operating cash inflows decreased by $18.0 million to 
$76.6 million for the year ended March 31, 2002. The major
reason for the decrease in cash flow was due to the fall in gypsum
wallboard selling prices. Also contributing to the decrease in cash
flow was many large customers making early payments in 
March 2001, which would have otherwise been received in the
current period.

Cash outflows from investing activities decreased by $85.7 million
to $77.2 million for the year ended March 31, 2002 due to lower
capital expenditures. This decrease was partially offset by the
payment in the current period to purchase the fibre cement assets
of Cemplank, Inc in December 2001. Also, a payment last year 
of $31.2 million on the establishment of the Medical Research &
Compensation Foundation was not repeated in the current year.

Net financing produced a cash outflow of $40.8 million for the
year ended March 31, 2002 compared to a cash inflow of 
$1.3 million in the prior year. The difference was primarily due to
repayments of borrowings only partially offset by the issuance of
shares on August 1, 2001.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis continued
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Directors’ Report
Year ended 31 March 2002

Your Directors’ present their report on the consolidated entity
consisting of James Hardie Industries N.V. (“JHI NV”) and the
entities it controlled during the period from 19 October 2001,
being after the implementation date of the Shareholder and Court
approved Scheme of Arrangement, to 31 March 2002 and the
consolidated entity consisting of James Hardie Industries Ltd
(“JHIL”) and the entities it controlled during the period from 
1 April 2001 until 19 October 2001, before implementation of 
the Scheme of Arrangement.

Directors
The members of the JHI NV Supervisory Board at the date of 
this report are: Messrs AG McGregor, MR Brown, MJ Gillfillan,
MM Koffel and Ms M Hellicar. All were Directors of JHIL until 
19 October 2001 when such Directors moved to the JHI NV
Supervisory and Joint Boards as part of the Scheme of Arrangement
implementation. The JHI NV Managing Board consists of former
JHIL Managing Director Mr PD Macdonald and former JHIL
Company Secretary Mr DE Cameron. The Joint Board consists of
all of the members of the Supervisory Board plus Mr PD Macdonald.
Mr PD Macdonald resigned from JHIL on 4 January 2002.

The qualifications and experience of the Directors are set out 
in the Board and Management Biographies on page 28.

Other JHIL Board changes from 1 April 2001 were:

–Sir Selwyn Cushing resigned as a JHIL Director 3 April 2001,
–Mr G O’Brien was appointed a Director of JHIL on 3 April 2001 

and resigned on 28 May 2001,
–Mr G Terry resigned as a JHIL Director on 28 May 2001,
–Mr PJ Willcox resigned as a JHIL Director on 19 October 2001.

Current JHI NV Company secretaries 
Messrs PJ Shafron and DE Cameron.

Above-named Directors attendance at JHIL Board, JHI NV Supervisory, Joint and Managing Board meetings and all Board
committee meetings during financial year: 

Boards of Directors Audit Committee Remuneration Committee Special Committee1

Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings
held while attended held while attended held while attended held while attended
a Director a member a member a member

Directors
AG McGregor 13 13 4 3 2 2 1 1
PD Macdonald 11 11 – – – – 1 1
MR Brown 13 13 4 4 – – – –
MJ Gillfillan 13 12 4 4 – – – –
MM Koffel 13 9 – – 2 2 – –
M Hellicar 13 12 4 3 2 2 – –

Former Directors
PJ Willcox 8 6 – – 2 1 – –
GJ Terry 2 2 – – – – – –
GF O’Brien 2 2 – – – – – –

Managing Board
PD Macdonald 2 2 – – – – – –
DE Cameron 2 2 – – – – – –

1 Created in connection with the sale of James Hardie Gypsum.

A Nominating and Governance Committee was constituted in April 2002. 
JHI NV has an Audit Committee at the date of this Report.
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Options
Note 17 to the Financial Statements sets out details of options
granted by JHI NV under the PD Macdonald Share Option Plans
and to other executives under the Equity Incentive Plan.

Note 17 to the Financial Statements sets out details of options
exercised.

Insurance and indemnification of Directors and officers
During the financial year, James Hardie paid a premium for an
insurance policy insuring any past, present or future director,
secretary, executive officer or employee of James Hardie,
including JHIL and JHI NV Directors named above, against certain
liabilities. In accordance with common commercial practice, the
insurance policy prohibits disclosure of the nature of the insurance
cover and the amount of the premium. 

Under the JHI NV Articles of Association, every officer of JHI NV 
is indemnified (to the maximum extent permitted by law) out of
property of JHI NV against:

a) a liability to another person (other than JHI NV or a related 
body corporate) unless the liability arises out of conduct 
involving a lack of good faith;

b)a liability for costs and expenses incurred by the person:
i) in defending proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which 

judgment is given in favour of the person or in which the 
person is acquitted; or

ii) in connection with an application in relation to such 
proceedings in which the court grants relief to the person 
under Australian Corporations Act and Corporations 
Regulations.

Principal activities
Principal activities of James Hardie during the financial year 
were the manufacture and distribution of: fibre cement products
internationally, gypsum products in US and until 30 November
2001 windows and doors in Australia.

Review of operations
A review of James Hardie’s operations during the financial year
and of the results of those operations is contained in Highlights 
on pages 2 and 3, in the Chairman’s Report on pages 4 to 5, 
in the Chief Executive Officer’s Report on pages 6 to 7, in the
business sections on pages 12 to 25, and in the Management’s
Discussion and Analysis section on pages 33 to 36.

Significant changes in state of affairs
During the financial year James Hardie:

–agreed to sell its Las Vegas Gypsum Mine for US$50 million,
–entered into definitive terms for the sale of its Gypsum business

for US$345 million,
– raised A$197 million in a rights issue,
–completed the plant upgrade and installation of an additional 

high-speed fibre cement production line in Waxahachie, Texas,
–sold its Windows business,
–acquired the manufacturing assets of USA fibre cement producer

Cemplank, Inc for US$40.8 million,
– implemented the shareholder and court approved internal Scheme

of Arrangement.

The Directors are not aware of any other significant change in the
state of affairs of James Hardie during the financial year which are
not covered in this Annual Report.

Post financial year events
Since the end of the financial year, the Gypsum business sale 
was closed. The proceeds will partly be used to repay debt and
returned to shareholders. The Directors are not aware of any
matter or circumstance not otherwise dealt with in this Annual
Report that has significantly affected or may significantly affect,
the operations of James Hardie, the results of those operations or
the state of affairs of James Hardie in subsequent financial years
other than contained in the Chairman’s Report on pages 4 to 5.

Financial position, outlook and future needs 
The financial position, outlook and future needs are set out in 
the Chairman’s Report on pages 4 to 5, in the Chief Executive
Officer’s Report on pages 6 to 7 and in the business sections on
pages 12 to 25. In the Boards’ opinion, any further disclosure of
information would prejudice James Hardie’s interests.

Directors’ relevant interests in securities at 6 May 2002:

Director JHI NV shares/CUFS JHI NV options
Beneficial Non-beneficial Total Beneficial

Supervisory Board
AG McGregor 3,490,794 5,121,200 8,611,994 –
M Hellicar 2,761 – 2,761 –
MR Brown 10,000 – 10,000 –
MJ Gillfillan 50,000 – 50,000 –
MM Koffel – – – –
Managing Board
PD Macdonald 81,000 – 81,000 1,824,000
DE Cameron 69,000 – 69,000 –

Directors’ Report continued
Year ended 31 March 2002
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Research and development
Information on James Hardie’s Research and Development are set
out in the Research and Development section on pages 14 and 15.

Employees
Information on James Hardie employees is set out on pages 
18 and 19. 

Environmental regulations and performance
The manufacturing and other ancillary activities conducted by
James Hardie are subject to licenses issued under environmental
laws that apply in each respective location.  

Under the applicable licenses and trade waste agreements,
discharges to water, air and the sewerage system and noise
emissions are to be maintained below specified limits. In addition,
dust and odour emissions from the sites are regulated by local
government authorities.

Solid wastes are removed to licensed landfills and a program is in
place to reduce waste produced from the manufacturing process.

James Hardie has in place an integrated environmental, 
health and safety management system which includes regular
monitoring, auditing and reporting within James Hardie. 
The system is designed to continually improve James Hardie’s
performance and systems with training, regular review,
improvement plans and corrective action as priorities. 

During the financial year and to the date of this report, 
James Hardie was not prosecuted for breach of any relevant
environmental law or license.

Further information on the Company’s environmental aims is 
set out on pages 26 to 27.

Dividends
Prior to implementation of the Scheme of Arrangement, JHIL 
paid an unfranked dividend of 9.5 cents Australian currency on 
14 June 2001.

Since the Scheme of Arrangement implementation, JHI NV has 
not paid a dividend.

The JHI NV Board will pay a dividend of 5 cents US currency. 
The payment date and record date will be advised at a later date.

Capital return
JHI NV made a capital return of 5 cents US currency on 
20 December 2001.

JHI NV will make a capital return of 20 cents US currency. The
payment date and record date will be advised at a later date.

Directors’ and executives’ emoluments
James Hardie aims to provide competitive total compensation 
by offering a package of fixed pay and benefits and performance
based variable pay, based on both long and short-term incentives.

James Hardie’s executive compensation program is based on 
a pay for performance policy that differentiates compensation
amounts based on an evaluation of performance results in three
basic areas: corporate, business unit and individual. The program
is administered by the Remuneration Committee. The composition
and responsibilities of the Committee are set out in the Corporate
Governance section. The Remuneration Committee reviews and
approves all individual compensation recommendations for senior
executives (see Corporate Governance section).

The Chief Executive Officer makes recommendations to the
Remuneration Committee on the compensation of James
Hardie’s key executives, based on assessments and advice 
from independent compensation consultants regarding the
compensation practices of James Hardie and others specific 
to the countries in which James Hardie operates. However, 
the Remuneration Committee makes the final compensation
decisions concerning these officers, the objective being to:

–Provide fixed pay (base salaries) to attract and retain key
executives who are critical to James Hardie’s long-term success
by providing a guaranteed level of income that recognises the
market value of the position as well as internal equities between
roles, and the individual’s capability, experience and performance.
Base pay for management typically approximates the median
salary for positions of similar responsibility in peer groups.

–Provide annual variable compensation awards that reward
increases in James Hardie’s shareholder value, as well as
achievement of agreed business outcomes. Target incentive
amounts are designed to be competitive based on salary 
market standards.

–Reinforce the executive officers’ alignment with the financial
interest of shareholders by providing equity-based long-term
incentives (i.e., share options and shadow share plans). Award
levels are determined based on market standards and the
individual’s responsibility, performance and potential to enhance
shareholder value. The Remuneration Committee uses the
Black-Scholes option pricing model to establish the appropriate
value of the long-term incentive.

Remuneration and other terms of employment for the Chief
Executive Officer and certain other senior executives are
formalised in service agreements.

Remuneration of non-executive Directors is determined by the
Supervisory Board within the maximum amount approved by the
shareholders from time to time. Non-executive Directors are also
currently entitled to retirement benefits in accordance with a
shareholder-approved scheme. The Supervisory Board takes
advice from an independent expert to benchmark Directors’
remuneration and retirement benefits against peer companies.

Details of the nature and amount of each element of the
emoluments of each Director of JHI NV and each of the five
current officers of JHI NV and James Hardie receiving the
highest emoluments are set out in the following tables.
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The officers in the table set out above are officers of continuing
businesses. During the year R Rugg, an officer of a discontinued
business, received emoluments comprising US$386,465 total
cash pay, US$49,077 superannuation and other benefits and
US$317,483 shadow share and options.

(1) Gross up of tax payable on the increase in the investment
value of superannuation is included for expatriate executives.

(2) Options are valued using the Black-Scholes method and the
fair value of options granted included in emoluments. Shadow
share expense included in emoluments is calculated based on
the movement in the JHI NV share price during the year and
the increase in vesting of the shadow shares.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the
Directors of the Joint Board.

AG McGregor PD Macdonald,
Chairman Supervisory Chief Executive Officer and
and Joint Boards Chairman Managing Board

Signed at Amsterdam, The Netherlands 14 May 2002.

JHI NV Directors’ emoluments
Directors’ Fees (1) Superannuation Total

Non-Executive Directors US$ US$ US$
AG McGregor 100,089 8,007 108,096 
M Hellicar 33,336 2,696 36,032 
MR Brown 33,336 2,696 36,032 
MJ Gillfillan 33,336 – 33,336 
MM Koffel 33,336 – 33,336

Former directors
PJ Willcox 19,462 1,557 21,019 
GJ Terry 5,561 445 6,006 
Sir Selwyn Cushing – – – 
GF O’Brien 5,561 445 6,006 
Total emoluments for
Non-Executive Directors 264,017 15,846 279,863

Superannuation 
Total and Other Shadow Share Expatriate

Base Pay Bonuses Cash Pay Benefits (2) & Options (3) Benefits
Executive Directors US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$
PD Macdonald 675,000 1,140,000 1,815,000 9,040 302,409 –
DE Cameron 114,188 24,308 138,496 37,573 77,442 44,998
Total emoluments for
Executive Directors 789,188 1,164,308 1,953,496 46,613 379,851 44,998

(1) For service on JHI NV and JHIL Boards.
(2) Gross up of tax payable on the increase in the investment value of superannuation is included for expatriate directors.
(3) Options are valued using the Black-Scholes method and the fair value of options granted included in emoluments. Shadow 

share expense included in emoluments is calculated based on the movement in the JHI NV share price during the year and 
the increase in vesting of the shadow shares. 

There were payments of prescribed benefits in connection with the retirement benefits of Directors under arrangements previously
approved by shareholders of US$106,968 during the year ended 31 March 2002.

Emoluments of five most highly remunerated current officers excluding JHI NV Directors
Relocation 

Superannuation Allowances
Total and Other Shadow Share and Other

Base Pay Bonuses Cash Pay Benefits (1) & Options (2) Non-recurring
US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$

L Gries 331,693 313,816 645,509 53,209 465,577 –
P Morley 298,800 255,629 554,429 167,392 407,126 129,283
P Shafron 214,500 177,380 391,880 107,846 308,964 341,173
Don Merkley 212,885 113,027 325,912 28,924 267,475 –
J Moller 177,077 39,143 216,220 100,540 178,893 –

Directors’ Report continued
Year ended 31 March 2002
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Board Structure
James Hardie has a multi-tiered board structure. This structure
consists of a Managing Board, a Supervisory Board and a Joint
Board. The Managing Board currently consists of two executive
officers and is responsible for managing general affairs and
financing and operations, including the treasury. The Supervisory
Board consists exclusively of persons who are not officers or
employees and is responsible for advising and supervising the
Managing Board based on the best interests of the Company,
including the interests of the shareholders.

The Joint Board consists of all of the members of the Supervisory
Board, the Chairman of the Managing Board (Mr Peter Macdonald)
and other members of our Managing Board chosen by the
Chairman of our Supervisory Board. The Joint Board is responsible
for planning and overseeing James Hardie’s general course of
affairs. The Chairman of the Joint Board may not be an executive
of James Hardie. The Chairman of the Supervisory Board may
appoint additional members of the Managing Board to the Joint
Board, provided that the number of Managing Board members 
on our Joint Board at any given time will not exceed one-third 
the number of Supervisory Board members on our Joint Board.

A key responsibility of the Joint Board is determining strategy 
and monitoring Company performance and, to this end, the
Company adopts a 3-year business plan and a 12-month
operating plan. Financial results and performance are closely
monitored against the operating plan. The Joint Board also
ensures that James Hardie Industries N.V. (JHI NV) has in place
effective external disclosure policies and procedures so that
shareholders and the financial market are fully informed on all
matters that might influence the Company’s share price.

The members of the Supervisory Board and the Managing Board
may be nominated by the Joint Board as well as by shareholders
and must be elected by our shareholders; provided however, that
up to one-third of the members of our Supervisory Board may be
appointed by our Joint Board. 

Terms of Appointment and Removal
Members of our Supervisory Board who are elected by our
shareholders and members of our Managing Board (other than
our Chief Executive Officer) are elected for a three-year term. 
In each case, such terms expire at the end of the third annual
meeting of shareholders following such persons’ election. 
Initially, members of our Supervisory Board were elected for
varying periods (reflecting time served since their last appointment
to the James Hardie Industries Limited Board) so that only one-
third of its members have their terms expire in any given year. 

Each Supervisory Board member and Managing Board member
holds office until the expiration of such director’s term of office 
or such director’s resignation, retirement or removal. Through the
Nominating and Governance Committee, the Supervisory Board
pursues a vigorous process of director evaluation. In addition, the
Managing Board members and those members of the Supervisory
Board appointed at our general meeting of shareholders may be
suspended or removed by the affirmative vote of an absolute
majority of the shares represented at a general meeting of
shareholders at which at least 5% of our issued share capital is
present or represented. In addition, the Supervisory Board may

suspend members of our Managing Board. The Joint Board 
may dismiss and remove the members of the Supervisory Board
appointed by it. Executive officers (other than members of our
Managing Board) are appointed by the Managing Board and,
subject to the terms of any employment agreement, serve at 
the will and pleasure of our Managing Board.

Standards of Performance
Under Dutch law, each member of the Managing Board,
Supervisory Board and Joint Board will be responsible to JHI NV
for the proper performance of his or her duties. 

Directors of Dutch companies are required to act in accordance
with the principles of reasonableness and fairness under Dutch
law. A managing board’s duty of care, which is derived from
statute, is to perform properly its management tasks. Members 
of a managing board perform their tasks properly so long as they
act in accordance with what could reasonably be expected of
them under the circumstances.

The duties of the Managing Board comprise all actions within 
the limits of the Company’s objects, including those which,
according to custom, reasonableness and fairness, derive from
such objects. Management duties are not limited to managing 
the day-to-day course of business of a company, but extend to
the formulation and implementation of policy and strategy.

The Managing Board is required to take into account not only 
the interests of shareholders but also the interests of the Company,
its business and all persons involved in the organisation of the
Company (including, in particular, the employees of the Company
and its subsidiaries).

The duties of the Supervisory Board are to supervise the policy 
and the general course of business of the Company. The
Supervisory Board advises the Managing Board. In performing 
its duties, the Supervisory Board directors are similarly required 
to act in accordance with the principles of reasonableness and
fairness, and to take into account the same interests as Managing 
Board Directors.

A breach of duties by a member of our Managing Board,
Supervisory Board or Joint Board can, under certain circumstances,
cause that person to be subject to an action and held personally
liable. Such action can be commenced by (i) any person who
suffers harm due to a tortious act of the director, (ii) JHI NV if the
director has failed to properly perform his or her duties and such
director has been negligent in the taking of adequate measures to
prevent the consequences of such failure or (iii) by JHI NV’s official
receiver upon insolvency (if it can be shown that our Managing
Board, Supervisory Board or Joint Board has manifestly improperly
performed its duties and that this was an important contributing
factor to the insolvency of the Company).

The authorities and duties conferred upon our Managing Board,
our Supervisory Board and our Joint Board constitute a shared
responsibility for their respective members. Subject to certain
limited exceptions, such members are jointly and severally liable
for failures of their Boards as a whole.

The Company and its directors are subject to the listing rules of
the Australian and New York Stock Exchanges.

Corporate Governance



Qualifications and Independence
Directors are required to bring independent views to the Boards
and possess qualifications, experience and expertise which will
assist the Boards in fulfilling their responsibilities. The effectiveness
and participation of each non-executive director is monitored and
reviewed by the Nominating and Governance Committee (see
below). Directors must declare any potential and actual conflicts 
of interest.

Meetings
The Joint and Supervisory Boards generally meet between five
and eight times each year and Board Committees meet as required
to fulfil their responsibilities. The Audit Committee meets a minimum
once a quarter to review quarterly financial results and releases.
The Joint Board has an annual program of visiting Company
facilities and spending time with line management, customers 
and suppliers in order to better understand the markets in which
James Hardie operates.  

Audit Committee
Scope
The Audit Committee provides advice and assistance to the Joint
and Supervisory Boards in fulfilling their responsibilities relating to
the Company’s financial statements, financial reporting processes,
internal accounting and financial control systems, internal audit,
external audit and such other matters as the Boards may request
from time to time.

Composition
–Membership: The Audit Committee is comprised of at least 

three members of the Joint Board, appointed by the Board.
– Independence: Each member is independent of the Company 

and management.
–Qualifications: All members have sufficient business and financial

expertise to act effectively as members of the Committee, as
determined by the Joint Board.

–Chair: The Chair of the Committee is nominated by the Joint
Board

Responsibilities
–Standards and Quality: The Audit Committee oversees the

adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s accounting and
financial policies and controls, including periodic discussions with
management, external auditors and internal auditors, and seeks
assurance of compliance with relevant regulatory and statutory
requirements.

–Financial Reports: The Audit Committee oversees the Company’s
financial reporting process and reports on the results of its
activities to the Board. Specifically, the Audit Committee reviews
with management and the External Auditors the Company’s annual
and quarterly financial statements and reports to shareholders,
seeking assurance that the external auditor is satisfied with the
disclosures and content of the financial statements. The
Committee reviews material accounting policies, any off balance
sheet transactions and material litigation on an as needed or
quarterly basis. The Chair of the Audit Committee may represent
the entire Audit Committee for the purposes of quarterly reviews.

–External Audit: The Audit Committee discusses with the External
Auditors the overall scope and plans for its audit activities,
including staffing, contractual arrangements and fees. It reviews 
all audit reports provided by the External Auditor, including an
annual report from the External Auditor on its independence. 
The Committee also specifically reviews any proposed activity by
the providers of the external audit unrelated to external audit activity.

– Internal Audit: The Audit Committee discusses with the internal
auditors the overall scope and plans for its audit activities. 
It reviews all internal audit reports.

–Appointment of External Auditor: The External Auditor is
appointed by the Joint Board. Annually the Audit Committee
reviews the performance of the External Auditor, and can
recommend to the Joint Board any changes to the selection 
it deems appropriate.

Processes
–Communications: The Audit Committee maintains free and open

communications with the External Auditors, Internal Auditors and
Management. The Committee periodically meets with the External
Auditors without representatives of management to discuss the
adequacy of the Company’s disclosures and policies, and to
satisfy itself regarding the External Auditor’s independence from
management.

–Access: In exercising its oversight role, the Audit Committee 
may investigate any matter relevant to its charter or relating to 
its role and scope, and for this purpose has full access to the
Company’s records, personnel and any required external support.

–Standards: The Audit Committee reviews, and may take any
necessary action to uphold, the overall quality of the Company’s
financial reporting and practices.

–Charter: The Audit Committee reviews and reassesses this
Charter at least annually, and recommends any changes it
considers appropriate to the Joint Board.

–Special Reviews: The Audit Committee may undertake other
special duties during the course of the year as requested by 
the Joint Board.

Members of the Audit Committee are Messrs MR Brown
(Chairman), AG McGregor, Ms M Hellicar and Mr MJ Gillfillan.

Nominating and Governance Committee
The Nominating and Governance Committee’s role includes:

– the continuous evaluation and refinement of the Company’s
corporate governance processes;

– the evaluation of individual Director performance;
– the recommendation of candidates for re-election;
–consideration of issues regarding Board composition and size; and
– the identification and screening of candidates for appointments 

to the Company’s Boards.

Members of the Nominating and Governance Committee are:
Messrs A G McGregor (Chairman),  MR Brown, MJ Gillfillan 
and JHR Loudon (contingent upon his election to the Supervisory
and Joint Boards). 
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Remuneration Policy and Remuneration Committee
In order to improve and sustain high performance, the Joint 
Board believes it is important to attract and retain high calibre
employees. JHI NV has instigated and continues to expand the
use of variable remuneration such that a growing proportion of
executive salaries is at risk, based on performance.

JHI NV encourages share ownership by Directors, executives and
employees to align their interests with those of the shareholders.
A substantial component of Director remuneration may be
comprised of Company shares and share options and executives
and employees participate in share option and share purchase
schemes tied to individual and Company performance.  

The Joint Board has established a Remuneration Committee 
to institute appropriate controls in the remuneration of senior
executives and non-executive Directors and to advise it on
remuneration policies and practices. The Remuneration
Committee’s membership is limited to independent directors 
and its role includes: 

–review and approval of the Chief Executive Officer’s remuneration
package and evaluate his performance each year;

– review and approval of the annual remuneration policy guidelines
for other senior executives;

–approval of any significant changes in remuneration policy,
superannuation, or executive and employee incentive plans;

–considering changes in non-executive Directors’ compensation; and
–overseeing succession planning for senior management positions

including the Chief Executive Officer.

Members of the Remuneration Committee are Mr AG McGregor,
Ms M Hellicar, and Mr MM Koffel.

Risk Management
The Joint and Management Boards are responsible for satisfying
themselves that the Company’s risk management systems are
effective and, in particular, for ensuring that:

– the principal strategic, operational and financial risks are identified;
–effective systems are in place to monitor and manage risks; and
– reporting systems, internal controls and arrangements for

monitoring compliance with laws and regulations are adequate. 

In addition to maintaining appropriate insurance and other
measures referred to in this Statement, the Boards have taken the
following steps to address identified risks:

–established policies and procedures in relation to treasury
operations, including the use of financial derivatives;

– issued and revised standards and procedures in relation to
environmental and health and safety matters;

– implemented and maintained training programs in relation to 
legal issues such as trade practices/antitrust, trade secrecy, and
IP protection; and

– issued procedures requiring that significant capital and revenue
expenditure is approved at an appropriate level of management 
or by the Boards.

The above risks are addressed in the Company’s Code of Ethics
and monitored by regular reports to the Managing Board and 
the Joint Board. Presentations are also made to the Joint and
Managing Boards and to the Audit Committee during the year 
by members of the management team and independent advisers,
where appropriate.

Compliance
The Boards seek to maintain high standards of integrity and are
committed to ensuring that James Hardie conducts its business 
in accordance with the highest standards of ethical behaviour.

The Boards require that employees comply with the spirit as well
as the letter of all laws and other statutory requirements governing
the conduct of James Hardie’s activities. Specific action has been
taken to ensure that employees understand and comply with their
obligations in areas such as occupational health and safety, trade
practices/antitrust, environmental protection, employment practices
such as equal opportunity, sexual harassment and discrimination,
continuous disclosure and insider trading, public and Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”) disclosure, and corrupt practices.
The Company has developed and is in the process of implementing
a comprehensive Code of Ethics.

Subsidiary Relationships
While the board of director structures differ, the substance of
these corporate governance standards applies to all JHI NV
subsidiary companies.

Access to independent professional advice
Board Committees and individual Directors may seek independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense for the purposes of
the proper performance of their duties.

Share Purchases by Directors and Senior Executives
Directors must notify the Chairman before buying or selling 
JHI NV shares. Purchases or sales of shares can only be made
within four weeks after the announcement of quarterly or full year
results. The Board recognises that it is the individual responsibility
of each Director and officer of James Hardie to ensure they
comply with the spirit and the letter of insider trading laws and
that notification to the Board in no way implies Board approval 
of any transaction. Directors are subject to the Company’s insider
trading policy and rules.



To the Board of Directors of James Hardie Industries N.V. and Subsidiaries

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of income, cash flows
and changes in shareholders’ equity present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of James Hardie Industries N.V.
and Subsidiaries at March 31, 2002 and 2001, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended March 31, 2002, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management; our responsibility is to express 
an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which require that we plan and perform the audits
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

GS Moore
Partner

Los Angeles, California
May 3, 2002
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(Millions of US Dollars) (Millions of Australian Dollars)
March 31 March 31

ASSETS 2001 2002 2001 2002
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 75.1 $ 31.1 A$ 153.3 A$ 58.5 
Accounts and notes receivable, net of allowance for doubtful

accounts of $1.1 million (A$2.2 million) and $0.7 million
(A$1.3 million) as of March 31, 2001 and 2002, respectively 47.7 80.3 97.3 151.0

Inventories 69.5 65.4 141.8 123.0
Refundable income taxes 15.7 9.9 32.0 18.6 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 4.0 7.2 8.2 13.5
Deferred tax assets 30.0 22.6 61.2 42.5 
Net current assets – discontinued operations 15.7 21.6 32.0 40.6 
Total current assets 257.7 238.1 525.8 447.7 
Long-term receivables 12.7 5.5 25.9 10.3 
Investments 10.2 6.7 20.8 12.6 
Property, plant and equipment, net 391.6 451.0 799.2 848.2 
Intangible assets, net 3.2 3.6 6.5 6.8 
Prepaid pension cost 8.8 8.9 18.0 16.7 
Deferred tax assets 5.1 5.5 10.4 10.3 
Net non-current assets – discontinued operations 213.0 194.2 434.7 365.3 
Total assets $ 902.3 $ 913.5 A$1,841.3 A$1,717.9 

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 63.5 $ 59.7 A$ 129.6 A$ 112.3 
Short-term debt 74.8 4.9 152.7 9.2 
Accrued payroll and employee benefits 16.0 25.7 32.7 48.3 
Accrued product warranties 4.2 8.7 8.6 16.4 
Income taxes payable 3.2 18.2 6.5 34.2 
Other liabilities 11.1 5.9 22.7 11.1 
Total current liabilities 172.8 123.1 352.8 231.5 
Long-term debt 357.3 325.0 729.2 611.3 
Deferred tax liabilities 31.0 23.0 63.3 43.3 
Liability to Medical Research and Compensation Foundation 49.4 50.2 100.8 94.4 
Other liabilities 10.7 21.8 21.8 41.0 
Total liabilities 621.2 543.1 A$1,267.9 A$1,021.5 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 13) –  – –  –  

Shareholders’ Equity
Common stock, no par value; 415,771,082 shares issued and

outstanding at March 31, 2001; Euro dollar 0.50 par value,
2.0 billion shares authorised; 455,438,519 shares issued
and outstanding at March 31, 2002 437.0 205.4 

Additional paid-in capital – 326.1 
Accumulated deficit (103.8) (94.8)
Employee loans (7.9) (4.8)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (44.2) (61.5)
Total shareholders’ equity 281.1 370.4
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 902.3 $ 913.5

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
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Years Ended March 31
(Millions of US Dollars, except per share data) 2000 2001 2002
Net sales $ 515.8 $ 540.9 $ 606.9
Cost of goods sold (334.5) (360.8) (401.6)
Gross profit 181.3 180.1 205.3

Selling, general and administrative expenses (98.7) (109.2) (116.2)
Research and development expenses (18.3) (14.5) (14.1)
Restructuring and other operating expenses (4.1) (15.5) (28.1)
Operating profit 60.2 40.9 46.9 

Interest expense (25.9) (21.4) (18.4)
Interest income 5.4 8.2 2.4
Other (expense) income, net (1.6) 1.6 (0.4)
Income from continuing operations before income taxes 38.1 29.3 30.5

Income tax (expense) benefit (13.5) 0.3 (3.9)
Income from continuing operations 24.6 29.6 26.6

Discontinued operations:
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income tax (expense)

benefit of ($42.4) million, ($16.4) million and $0.3 million
for the years ended March 31, 2000, 2001 and 2002, respectively 80.4 24.0 (0.3)

Gain (loss) on disposal of discontinued operations, net of income
tax (expense) benefit of ($3.3) million, $0.6 million and $0.5 million
for the years ended March 31, 2000, 2001 and 2002, respectively 12.8 (15.1) 3.0

Income from discontinued operations 93.2 8.9 2.7
Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle 117.8 38.5 29.3

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle for revenue 
recognition, net of income tax benefit of $0.2 million – (0.3) –

Net income $ 117.8 $ 38.2 $ 29.3

Income per share – basic:
Income from continuing operations $ 0.06 $ 0.07 $ 0.06
Income from discontinued operations 0.23 0.02 0.01
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle –  –  –
Net income per share – basic $ 0.29 $ 0.09 $ 0.07

Income per share – diluted:
Income from continuing operations $ 0.06 $ 0.07 $ 0.06
Income from discontinued operations 0.23 0.02 0.01
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle –  –  –
Net income per share – diluted $ 0.29 $ 0.09 $ 0.07

Weighted average common shares outstanding (in millions):
Basic 407.0 409.6 438.4
Diluted 407.0 409.6 440.4

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Income
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Years Ended March 31
(Millions of Australian Dollars, except per share data) 2000 2001 2002
Net sales A$ 800.3 A$ 973.0 A$1,182.4
Cost of goods sold (519.0) (649.0) (782.4)
Gross profit 281.3 324.0 400.0

Selling, general and administrative expenses (153.1) (196.4) (226.4)
Research and development expenses (28.4) (26.1) (27.5)
Restructuring and other operating expenses (6.4) (27.9) (54.7)
Operating profit 93.4 73.6 91.4

Interest expense (40.2) (38.5) (35.8)
Interest income 8.4 14.8 4.7 
Other (expense) income, net (2.5) 2.9 (0.8)
Income from continuing operations before income taxes 59.1 52.8 59.5

Income tax (expense) benefit (20.9) 0.5 (7.6)
Income from continuing operations 38.2 53.3 51.9 

Discontinued operations:
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income tax (expense)

benefit of (A$65.8) million, (A$29.5) million and A$0.6 million
for the years ended March 31, 2000, 2001 and 2002, respectively 124.7 43.2 (0.6)

Gain (loss) on disposal of discontinued operations, net of income tax
(expense) benefit of (A$5.1) million, A$1.1 million and A$1.0 million
for the years ended March 31, 2000, 2001 and 2002, respectively 19.9 (27.2) 5.8 

Income from discontinued operations 144.6 16.0 5.2
Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle 182.8 69.3 57.1

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle for revenue 
recognition, net of income tax benefit of A$0.4 million –  (0.5) –  

Net income A$ 182.8 A$ 68.8 A$ 57.1

Income per share - basic:
Income from continuing operations A$ 0.09 A$ 0.13 A$ 0.12
Income from discontinued operations 0.36 0.04 0.01
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle –  –  – 
Net income per share – basic A$ 0.45 A$ 0.17 A$ 0.13

Income per share - diluted:
Income from continuing operations A$ 0.09 A$ 0.13 A$ 0.12
Income from discontinued operations 0.36 0.04 0.01
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle –  –  –
Net income per share – diluted A$ 0.45 A$ 0.17 A$ 0.13

Weighted average common shares outstanding (in millions):
Basic 407.0 409.6 438.4
Diluted 407.0 409.6 440.4

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Years Ended March 31
(Millions of US Dollars) 2000 2001 2002
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 117.8 $ 38.2 $ 29.3
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries and businesses (11.9) (2.3) (2.0)
(Gain) loss on disposal of investments and negotiable securities (1.8) (2.4) 1.3
Property, plant and equipment impairment –  7.5 –
Depreciation and amortisation 49.4 37.7 39.9
Deferred income taxes 31.8 4.0 (0.6)
Prepaid pension cost 1.9 (0.2) (0.7)
Other 1.8 0.9 3.1

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable, prepaids and other current assets (31.4) 8.7 (29.1)
Inventories (0.2) (22.1) 16.4
Accounts payable, accrued liabilities and other liabilities (11.1) 24.6 19.0

Net cash provided by operating activities 146.3 94.6 76.6

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (111.2) (121.9) (52.4)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 14.1 2.7 0.3
Payments for subsidiaries and businesses, net of cash acquired –  (9.9) (40.8)
Disposal of subsidiaries and businesses, net of cash invested 98.4 (11.8) 7.3
Proceeds from sale and maturity of investments 3.7 1.9 4.4
Loans repaid by other entities 0.8 7.3 4.0
Cash transferred and payments of other costs on establishment of 

the Medical Research and Compensation Foundation –  (31.2) –
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 5.8 (162.9) (77.2)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from borrowings 156.3 188.0 230.4
Repayments of borrowings (163.3) (143.7) (342.3)
Proceeds from issuance of shares –  – 113.9 
Repayments of capital –  –  (22.5)
Dividends paid (42.0) (43.0) (20.3)

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (49.0) 1.3 (40.8)

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash (1.5) (12.1) (2.6)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 101.6 (79.1) (44.0)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 52.6 154.2 75.1
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 154.2 75.1 31.1

Components of cash and cash equivalents:
Cash at bank and on hand 0.3 2.4 11.1
Deposits 153.9 72.7 20.0

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 154.2 $ 75.1 $ 31.1

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow activities:
Cash paid during the period for interest $ 26.3 $ 20.2 $ 25.8
Cash paid (refunded) during the period for income taxes, net $ 26.6 $ 22.6 $ (10.2)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
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Years Ended March 31
(Millions of Australian Dollars) 2000 2001 2002
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income A$ 182.8 A$ 68.8 A$ 57.1
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries and businesses (18.5) (4.1) (3.9)
(Gain) loss on disposal of investments and negotiable securities (2.8) (4.3) 2.5
Property, plant and equipment impairment –  13.5 – 
Depreciation and amortisation 76.6 67.8 77.7
Deferred income taxes 49.3 7.2 (1.2)
Prepaid pension cost 2.9 (0.4) (1.4)
Other 2.8 1.6 6.0

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable, prepaids and other current assets (48.7) 15.7 (56.7)
Inventories (0.3) (39.8) 32.0
Accounts payable, accrued liabilities and other liabilities (17.2) 44.3 37.0

Net cash provided by operating activities 226.9 170.3 149.1

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property, plant, and equipment (172.5) (219.3) (102.1)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 21.9 4.9 0.6
Payments for subsidiaries and businesses, net of cash acquired –  (17.8) (79.5)
Disposal of subsidiaries and businesses, net of cash invested 152.7 (21.2) 14.2
Proceeds from sale and maturity of investments 5.7 3.4 8.6
Loans repaid by other entities 1.2 13.1 7.8
Cash transferred and payments of other costs on establishment of 

the Medical Research and Compensation Foundation –  (56.1) –
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 9.0 (293.0) (150.4)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from borrowings 242.5 338.2 448.9
Repayments of borrowings (253.4) (258.5) (666.9)
Proceeds from issuance of shares –  –  221.9
Repayments of capital –  –  (43.8)
Dividends paid (65.2) (77.4) (39.6)

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (76.1) 2.3 (79.5)

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash 10.4 19.8 (14.0)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 170.2 (100.6) (94.8)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 83.7 253.9 153.3
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 253.9 153.3 58.5

Components of cash and cash equivalents:
Cash at bank and on hand 0.5 4.9 20.9
Deposits 253.4 148.4 37.6

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period A$ 253.9 A$ 153.3 A$ 58.5

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow activities:
Cash paid during the period for interest A$ 40.8 A$ 36.3 A$ 50.3
Cash paid (refunded) during the period for income taxes, net A$ 41.3 A$ 40.7 A$ (19.9)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity

Accumulated
Additional  Other    

Common Paid-in Accumulated Employee Comprehensive
(Millions of US Dollars) Stock Capital Deficit Loans Income (Loss) Total

Balances as of March 31, 1999 $ 419.3 $ – $ (175.6) $ (9.9) $ (72.0) $ 161.8 

Comprehensive income (loss):
Net income –  – 117.8 –  –  117.8 
Other comprehensive income (loss):

Foreign currency translation gain –  – –  –  5.1 5.1 
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities –  – –  –  0.6 0.6 
Other comprehensive income –  – –  –  5.7 5.7 

Total comprehensive income 123.5 
Dividends paid –  – (42.0) –  –  (42.0)
Stock compensation 0.6 – –  –  –  0.6 
Employee loans –  – –  0.8 –  0.8 
Balances as of March 31, 2000 419.9 – (99.8) (9.1) (66.3) 244.7 

Comprehensive income (loss):
Net income –  – 38.2 –  –  38.2 
Other comprehensive income (loss):

Foreign currency translation gain –  – –  –  22.2 22.2 
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities –  – –  –  (0.1) (0.1)
Other comprehensive income –  – –  –  22.1 22.1 

Total comprehensive income 60.3 
Dividends paid –  – (43.0) –  –  (43.0)
Issuance of common stock 17.3 – –  –  –  17.3 
Stock compensation 0.6 – –  –  –  0.6 
Employee loans –  – –  1.2 –  1.2 
Other (0.8) – 0.8 –  –  –  
Balances as of March 31, 2001 437.0 – (103.8) (7.9) (44.2) 281.1 

Comprehensive income (loss):
Net income –  –  29.3 – –  29.3 
Other comprehensive income (loss):

Effect of adopting SFAS No. 133
Unrealized transition loss on derivative
instruments classified as cash flow hedges –  –  –  –  (4.9) (4.9)

Amortisation of unrealized transition loss on
derivative instruments –  –  –  –  1.1 1.1 

Foreign currency translation loss –  –  –  – (14.8) (14.8)
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities –  –  – –  1.3 1.3 
Other comprehensive loss –  –  –  –  (17.3) (17.3)

Total comprehensive income 12.0 
Dividends paid –  –  (20.3) –  –  (20.3)
Issuance of common stock 103.1 9.9 –  –  –  113.0 
Conversion of JHIL no par common shares

to JHI NV Euro dollar 0.50 par value
common shares (334.9) 334.9 –  –  –  –  

Return of capital of $0.05 per share –  (22.5) –  –  –  (22.5)
Stock compensation –  3.1 –  –  –  3.1 
Employee loans –  – –  3.1 –  3.1 
Stock options exercised 0.2 0.7 –  –  –  0.9 
Balances as of March 31, 2002 $ 205.4 $ 326.1 $ (94.8) $ (4.8) $ (61.5) $ 370.4 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1. Background and Basis of Presentation

Background
On July 2, 1998, James Hardie Industries Limited (“JHIL”), a
public company organised under the laws of Australia and listed
on the Australia Stock Exchange, announced a plan of
reorganisation and capital restructuring (the “1998
Reorganisation”).

James Hardie N.V. (“JHNV”) was incorporated in August 1998, 
as an intermediary holding company, with all its common stock
owned by indirect subsidiaries of JHIL. On October 16, 1998,
JHIL's shareholders approved the 1998 Reorganisation. Effective
as of November 1, 1998, JHIL contributed its fibre cement
businesses, its US gypsum wallboard business, its Australian 
and New Zealand building systems businesses and its Australian
windows business (collectively, the “Transferred Businesses”) 
to JHNV and its subsidiaries.  In connection with the 1998
Reorganisation, JHIL and its non-transferring subsidiaries 
retained certain unrelated assets and liabilities.

On July 24, 2001, JHIL announced a further plan of reorganisation
and capital restructuring (the “2001 Reorganisation”). Completion
of the 2001 Reorganisation occurred on October 19, 2001. In
connection with the 2001 Reorganisation, James Hardie
Industries N.V. (“JHI NV”), formerly RCI Netherlands Holdings B.V.,
issued common shares represented by CHESS Units of Foreign
Securities ("CUFS") on a one for one basis to existing JHIL
shareholders in exchange for their shares in JHIL such that 
JHI NV became the new ultimate holding company for JHIL 
and JHNV.

Following the 2001 Reorganisation, JHI NV controls the same
assets and liabilities as JHIL controlled immediately prior to the
2001 Reorganisation.

Basis of Presentation
The consolidated financial statements represent the financial
position and results of operations of JHI NV and its wholly owned
subsidiaries, collectively referred to as either the “Company” or
"James Hardie", unless the context indicates otherwise. For the
periods prior to October 19, 2001, the effective date of the 2001
Reorganisation, the consolidated financial statements represent
the financial position and results of operations of JHIL and its
wholly owned subsidiaries.

In accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America, the transfers to JHI NV have been
accounted for on a historical cost basis using the “as-if” pooling
method on the basis that the transfers are between companies
under common control.

The assets, liabilities, income statement and cash flows of the
Company have been presented with accompanying Australian
dollar (A$) convenience translations. These A$ convenience
translations are not prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

The exchange rates used to calculate the convenience translations
are as follows:

March 31
(US$1 = A$) 2000 2001 2002
Assets and liabilities n/a 2.0408 1.8808
Income statement 1.5515 1.7990 1.9483
Cash flows – beginning cash 1.5911 1.6466 2.0408
Cash flows – ending cash 1.6466 2.0408 1.8808
Cash flows – current period movements 1.5515 1.7990 1.9483

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Operations
The Company manufactures and sells fibre cement building
products for interior and exterior building construction applications
primarily in the United States, Australia, New Zealand, Philippines
and Chile.

Accounting Principles
The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America (“US GAAP”). The US dollar is used as the reporting
currency. All subsidiaries are consolidated and all significant
intercompany transactions and balances are eliminated.

Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with US
GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions.
These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Reclassifications
Certain prior year balances have been reclassified to conform 
with the current year presentation.

Foreign Currency Translation
All assets and liabilities are translated into US dollars at current
exchange rates while revenues and expenses are translated at
average exchange rates in effect for the period. The effects of
foreign currency translation adjustments are included directly in 
a separate component of shareholders’ equity. Prior to the 1998
Reorganisation, financial instruments were used to hedge, from an
Australian dollar perspective, the amount of JHIL’s net investment
in foreign operations. Gains and losses, net of taxes, arising on
such hedges were recognised in the cumulative translation
adjustment account in shareholders’ equity. Subsequent to the
1998 Reorganisation, the Company manages its balance sheet
from a US dollar perspective. Gains and losses arising from foreign
currency transactions are recognised in income currently.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include amounts on deposit in banks
and cash invested temporarily in various highly liquid financial
instruments with an original maturity of three months or less 
when acquired. 
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Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. Cost is
generally determined under the first-in, first-out method, except
that the cost of raw materials and supplies is determined using
actual or average costs. Cost includes the costs of materials,
labour and applied factory overhead.

Investments
Management determines the proper classifications of investments
at the time of purchase and re-evaluates such designations at
each balance sheet date. All marketable securities are designated
as available-for-sale securities. Accordingly, these securities are
stated at fair value based upon quoted market prices, with
unrealized gains and losses charged to a separate component of
shareholders’ equity, net of taxes. Realised gains and losses on
sales of investments are recognised in income currently.

Other investments without readily available quoted market prices
are recorded at the lower of cost or management's estimate of
fair value.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost. Property, 
plant and equipment of businesses acquired are recorded at 
their acquired cost based on fair market value at the date of 
the acquisition. Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 
is computed using the straight-line method over the following
estimated useful lives:

Buildings 40 years
Building improvements 5 to 10 years
Machinery and equipment 5 to 27 years
Computer equipment 3 to 4 years
Office furniture and equipment 3 to 10 years

The cost of additions and improvements is capitalised, while
maintenance and repair costs are expensed as incurred. Interest
is capitalised in connection with the construction of major
facilities. Capitalised interest is recorded as part of the asset to
which it relates and is amortised over the asset's estimated useful
life. Retirements, sales and disposals of assets are recorded by
removing the cost and accumulated depreciation amounts with
any resulting gain or loss reflected in the statement of income.

Intangibles
Intangibles consist primarily of goodwill, which represents cost in
excess of the fair value of the identifiable net assets of businesses
acquired. Goodwill is amortised using the straight-line method
over the period such additional value is expected to be realised,
generally 25 years.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
The Company evaluates its long-lived assets, including goodwill,
for impairment in accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 121, “Accounting for the
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to 
be Disposed Of,” and will continue to evaluate them as events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of
such assets may not be fully recoverable. The Company evaluates
the recoverability of long-lived assets by measuring the carrying

amount of the assets against the estimated undiscounted future
cash flows associated with them. At the time such evaluations
indicate that the future undiscounted cash flows of certain long-
lived assets are not sufficient to recover the carrying value of such
assets, the assets are adjusted to their fair values, based on
future discounted cash flows.

Environmental
Environmental remediation expenditures that relate to current
operations are expensed or capitalised as appropriate.
Expenditures that relate to an existing condition caused by past
operations, and which do not contribute to current or future
revenue generation, are expensed. Liabilities are recorded when
environmental assessments and/or remedial efforts are probable
and the costs can be reasonably estimated. Estimated liabilities
are not discounted to present value. Generally, the timing of these
accruals coincides with completion of a feasibility study or the
Company's commitment to a formal plan of action.

Mineral Acquisition Costs
The Company records acquired proven and probable silica
mineral ore reserves at their fair market value at the date of
acquisition. Depletion expense is recorded based on the
estimated rate per ton multiplied by the number of tons extracted
during the period. The rate per ton may be periodically revised by
management based on changes in the estimated tons available to
be extracted which, in turn, is based on third party studies of
proven and probable reserves. The estimated costs of reclamation
associated with mining activities are accrued during production
and are included in determining the cost of production.

Revenue Recognition and Change in Accounting Principle
Effective April 1, 2000, the Company changed its method of
accounting for revenue recognition to comply with Securities and
Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 101,
"Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements." Previously, the
Company had recognised revenue when products were shipped
based on FOB shipping point terms. Under the new accounting
method adopted retroactive to April 1, 2000, the Company now
recognises revenue when the risks and obligations of ownership
have been transferred to the customer which generally occurs at
the time of delivery to the customer. Assuming the change in
accounting principle was made retroactively to all prior periods,
the calculated pro forma amounts are immaterial and thus have
been excluded from the statements of income. As a result of the
adoption of SAB No. 101, in the year ended March 31, 2001 the
Company recognised $4.9 million in revenue, of which $3.8 million
relates to discontinued operations, that was previously recognised
in fiscal year 2000.

Construction contract revenues are recognised using the
percentage-of-completion method based on the costs incurred
relative to total estimated costs. Provisions for anticipated losses
on construction contracts are recognised in income currently.
Sales revenue is presented net of sales returns and allowances.

Accrued Product Warranties
An accrual for estimated future warranty costs is recorded based
on an analysis by the Company, including the historical
relationship of warranty costs to sales.
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Income Taxes
The Company accounts for income taxes under the liability
method. Under this method, deferred income taxes are
recognised by applying enacted statutory rates applicable to
future years to differences between the tax bases and financial
reporting amounts of existing assets and liabilities. The effect on
deferred taxes of a change in tax rates is recognised in income 
in the period that includes the enactment date. A valuation
allowance is provided when it is more likely than not that all 
or some portion of deferred tax assets will not be realised.

Financial Instruments
Periodically, interest rate swaps, commodity swaps and forward
exchange contracts are used in an effort to manage market risks
and reduce exposure resulting from fluctuations in interest rates,
commodity prices and foreign currency exchange rates. Where
such contracts are designated as, and effective as, a hedge, they
are accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 133, “Accounting
for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.”

Stock-Based Compensation
The Company accounts for stock option grants and other equity
incentive awards in accordance with Accounting Principles Board
(“APB”) Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees” and related interpretations. Under APB Opinion No.
25, compensation expense is recorded when the current market
price of the underlying stock exceeds the exercise price on the
date of grant. The Company maintains various option and
incentive plans which are subject to either fixed or variable plan
accounting. Compensation costs relating to options issued under
a fixed plan are calculated at the date of grant and recognised
over the vesting period. Compensation costs for options issued
under a variable plan must be determined each reporting period
based on changes in the underlying stock price and recognised
over the vesting period, typically until the options are exercised.

Employee Benefit Plans
The Company sponsors both defined benefit and defined
contribution retirement plans for its employees. The defined
contribution plans cover all eligible employees and provide
contributions of up to 6% of the eligible employees salaries or
wages. These contributions are recognised as periodic pension
expense in the period that the employees salaries or wages are
earned. The defined benefit plan covers all eligible employees and
takes into consideration the following components to calculate net
periodic pension expense: (a) service cost; (b) interest cost; (c)
expected return on plan assets; (d) amortisation of unrecognised
prior service cost; (e) recognition of net actuarial gains or losses;
and (f) amortisation of any unrecognised net transition asset. If the
amount of the Company’s total contribution to its pension plan for
the period is not equal to the amount of net periodic pension
cost, the Company recognises the difference either as a prepaid
or accrued pension cost.

Dividends
Dividends are recorded as a liability on the date that the Board 
of Directors formally declares the dividend.

Earnings per Share
The Company is required to disclose basic and diluted earnings
per share (“EPS”). Basic EPS is calculated using income divided
by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding
during the year. Diluted EPS is similar to basic EPS except that
the weighted average number of common shares outstanding is
increased to include the number of additional common shares
that would have been outstanding if the dilutive potential common
shares, such as options, had been issued. Options to purchase
1.2 million shares at March 31, 2000 and 2001 and options to
purchase 4.2 million shares at March 31, 2002 were not included
in the computation of diluted net income per share because the
exercise price of the options was greater than the average market
price of the common shares. Therefore, the effect would be
antidilutive.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) includes net
income, foreign currency translation adjustments, unrealized gains
(losses) on available-for-sale securities and derivative instruments
and is presented as a separate component of shareholders’
equity.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Derivatives
On April 1, 2001, the Company adopted SFAS No. 133,
“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” 
as amended. The cumulative effect on April 1, 2001 of adopting
this statement was to reduce other comprehensive income, a
component of shareholders' equity, by $4.9 million. 

Periodically, interest rate swaps, commodity swaps and forward
exchange contracts are used to manage market risks and reduce
exposure resulting from fluctuations in interest rates, commodity
prices and foreign currency exchange rates. Where such
contracts are designated as, and effective as, a hedge, gains and
losses arising on such contracts are accounted for in accordance
with SFAS No. 133. Specifically, changes in the fair value of
derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges are
deferred and recorded in other comprehensive income. These
deferred gains or losses are recognised in income when the
transactions being hedged are completed. The ineffective portion
of these hedges is recognised in income currently. Changes in the
fair value of derivative instruments designated as fair value hedges
are recognised in income, as are changes in the fair value of the
hedged item. Changes in the fair value of derivative instruments
that are not designated as hedges for accounting purposes are
recognised in income. The Company does not use derivatives for
trading purposes.

Business Combinations
In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”)
issued SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations.” SFAS No.141
requires the purchase method of accounting to be used for all
business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001, with use of
the pooling-of-interests method prohibited. The adoption of this
standard had no impact on the Company's consolidated financial
statements.



Goodwill
SFAS No. 142, which changes the accounting for goodwill and
indefinite-lived intangible assets from an amortisation method to 
an impairment-only approach, will be adopted by the Company
beginning in the first quarter of fiscal year 2003. Under the new
rules, goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets will no longer
be amortised but will be subjected to an annual impairment test.
Other intangible assets will continue to be amortised over their
estimated useful lives. The Company believes that the adoption 
of this standard will not have a material impact on its consolidated
financial statements.

Asset Retirement Obligations
In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting 
for Asset Retirement Obligations.” This standard applies to legal
obligations associated with the retirement of long-lived assets that
result from the acquisition, construction, development and/or the
normal operation of a long-lived asset, except for certain obligations
of lessees. The statement requires that the fair value of a liability for
an asset retirement obligation be recognised in the period in which
it is incurred if a reasonable estimate of fair value can be made.
The associated asset retirement costs are capitalised as part 
of the carrying amount of the long-lived asset. This statement is
effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning
after June 15, 2002. The Company believes that the adoption of
this standard will not have a material impact on its consolidated
financial statements.

Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets
In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for
the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” Based upon 
the framework established in SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to 
Be Disposed Of,” this statement establishes one accounting model
for long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale and addresses
significant SFAS No. 121 implementation issues. The accounting
model defined in SFAS No. 144 applies to all long-lived assets 
to be disposed of whether reported in continuing operations or in
discontinued operations and requires that those long-lived assets
be measured at the lower of carrying amount or fair value less
costs to sell. Consequently, discontinued operations will no 
longer be measured at net realisable value or include amounts 
for operating losses that have not yet occurred. This statement is
effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2001 and interim periods within those fiscal
years. The provisions of SFAS No. 144 generally are to be applied
prospectively. The Company believes that the adoption of this
standard will not have a material impact on its consolidated
financial statements.

3. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of the following components:

March 31
(Millions of US dollars) 2001 2002
Cash at bank and on hand $ 2.4 $ 11.1
Short-term deposits 72.7 20.0
Total cash and cash equivalents $ 75.1 $ 31.1

Short-term deposits are placed at floating interest rates varying
between 4.61% to 5.50% and 1.65% to 1.80% as of March 31,
2001 and 2002, respectively.

4. Accounts and Notes Receivable

Accounts and notes receivable consist of the following components:

March 31
(Millions of US dollars) 2001 2002
Trade debtors $ 42.2 $ 73.1
Other debtors and advances 6.6 7.9
Allowance for doubtful accounts (1.1) (0.7)
Total accounts and notes receivable $ 47.7 $ 80.3

The collectibility of accounts receivable, consisting mainly of trade
receivables, is reviewed on an ongoing basis and an allowance for
doubtful accounts is provided for known and estimated bad debts.
The following are changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts:

March 31
(Millions of US dollars) 2000 2001 2002
Balance at beginning of period $ 0.7 $ 1.2 $ 1.1
Charge to expense 0.6 0.3 0.1
Costs and deductions – (0.2) (0.6)
Foreign currency movements (0.1) (0.2) 0.1
Balance at end of period $ 1.2 $ 1.1 $ 0.7

5. Inventories

Inventories consist of the following components: 

March 31
(Millions of US dollars) 2001 2002
Raw materials and supplies $ 17.0 $ 22.4
Provision for raw materials (0.4) (0.3)
Work-in-process 3.5 4.1
Finished goods 50.8 40.9
Provision for finished goods (1.4) (1.7)
Contracts-in-progress less advance billings – –
Total inventories $ 69.5 $ 65.4

Work-in-process includes amounts related to construction
contracts. The net amount of contracts-in-progress less advance
billings was determined after deducting payments and progress
billings of $1.5 million and $2.9 million as of March 31, 2001 and
2002, respectively.

6. Investments

Investments consist of the following components:

March 31
(Millions of US dollars) 2001 2002
Available-for-sale securities:
Marketable securities at cost $ 8.4 $ 3.9
Gross unrealized (losses) gains (0.2) 1.1
Marketable securities at fair value 8.2 5.0
Other investments at cost approximating fair value 2.0 1.7
Total investments $ 10.2 $ 6.7
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7. Property, Plant and Equipment 

Property, plant and equipment consist of the following components:

Machinery and
(Millions of US dollars) Land Buildings Equipment Total
Balance at April 1, 2001:
Cost $ 6.6 $ 116.3 $ 371.7 $ 494.6
Accumulated depreciation – (13.6) (89.4) (103.0)
Net book value 6.6 102.7 282.3 391.6

Changes in net book value:
Capital expenditures – 7.1 43.7 50.8
Retirements and sales – – (2.4) (2.4)
Depreciation – (2.7) (20.8) (23.5)
Acquisition of assets of a business – 0.4 30.5 30.9
Translation differences – (0.4) 4.0 3.6 
Total changes – 4.4 55.0 59.4 

Balance at March 31, 2002:
Cost 6.6 123.4 446.5 576.5 
Accumulated depreciation –  (16.3) (109.2) (125.5)
Net book value $ 6.6 $ 107.1 $ 337.3 $ 451.0 

Interest related to the construction of major facilities is capitalised and included in the cost of the asset to which it relates. Interest
capitalised was $0.7 million, $4.6 million and $6.5 million for the years ended March 31, 2000, 2001 and 2002, respectively. Depreciation
expense for continuing operations was $21.2 million, $20.7 million and $23.5 million for the years ended March 31, 2000, 2001 and
2002, respectively.

8. Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist of the following components:
Trademarks,

Patents
(Millions of US dollars) Goodwill and Other Total
Balance at April 1, 2001:
Cost $ 2.3 $ 1.6 $ 3.9 
Accumulated amortisation – (0.7) (0.7)
Net book value 2.3 0.9 3.2 

Changes in net book value:
Amortisation (0.2) – (0.2)
Acquisition of assets of a business – 0.8 0.8 
Translation differences (0.2) – (0.2)
Total changes (0.4) 0.8 0.4 

Balance at March 31, 2002:
Cost 2.1 2.2 4.3
Accumulated amortisation (0.2) (0.5) (0.7)
Net book value $ 1.9 $ 1.7 $ 3.6

Amortisation expense related to goodwill and other intangibles was $0.1 million, $0.1 million and $0.2 million for the years ended 
March 31, 2000, 2001 and 2002, respectively.
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9. Retirement Plans

The Company sponsors a defined contribution plan for employees in its US operations and defined benefit and defined contribution
plans for its Australian and New Zealand employees. The defined contribution plan in the US covers all US employees meeting certain
eligibility requirements and provides for contributions of up to 6% of their salary or wages. The Company’s expense for the US defined
contribution plan totalled $1.6 million, $2.3 million and $2.5 million for the years ended March 31, 2000, 2001 and 2002, respectively.

The following are the components of net periodic pension cost (income) for the Australian defined benefit pension plan:

Years Ended March 31
(Millions of US dollars) 2000 2001 2002
Service cost $ 5.6 $ 3.3 $ 2.9
Interest cost 4.1 2.7 2.4
Expected return on plan assets (7.1) (4.8) (3.7)
Amortisation of unrecognised transition asset (1.3) (0.9) (0.8)
Amortisation of prior service cost 0.1 – –
Recognised net actuarial loss (gain) 0.4 (0.5) 0.1
Net periodic pension cost (income) $ 1.8 $ (0.2) $ 0.9

Settlement gains of $2.5 million and curtailment losses of $0.1 million were recognised during the year ended March 31, 2000 as a result
of the sale of the businesses within the Building Systems segment. Also, a settlement loss of $1.3 million was recognised during the year
ended March 31, 2002 as a result of the sale of the Company's Windows business.

The following are the assumptions used in developing the projected benefit obligation as of March 31 for the Australian defined benefit
pension plan:

March 31
2000 2001 2002

Discount rate 6.5% 5.5% 7.0%
Rate of increase in compensation 4.0% 4.0% 3.5%
Expected return on plan assets 8.5% 7.5% 7.0%

Plan assets consist primarily of investments in marketable securities. Net unrecognised gains and losses are amortised over the average
remaining service period of active employees. A market related value of assets is used to determine pension costs using a five year
average of stocks held for investment purposes. The discount rate is based on the yield on 10 year high quality investment securities
adjusted to reflect the rates at which pension benefits could be effectively settled. The changes in the discount rate from 2000 to 2001,
and from 2001 to 2002, are a direct result of the changes in yields of high quality investment securities over the same periods, adjusted
to rates at which pension benefits could be effectively settled. The decrease in the expected return on plan assets from 2000 to 2001,
and from 2001 to 2002, is a result of both the reduction in the expected underlying inflation rate and reduced expected after-tax rates 
of return.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements continued
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The following are the actuarial changes in the benefit obligation, changes in plan assets and the funded status of the Australian defined
benefit pension plan:

Years Ended March 31
(Millions of US dollars) 2001 2002
Changes in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation - beginning balance $ 44.7 $ 41.9
Service cost 3.3 2.9
Interest cost 2.7 2.4
Plan participants' contributions 1.4 0.6
Actuarial loss 7.2 8.1
Divestitures – (8.5)
Benefits paid (8.0) (12.0)
Foreign currency translation (9.4) 3.3
Benefit obligation - ending balance $ 41.9 $ 38.7

Changes in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets - beginning balance $ 71.7 $ 52.8
Actual return on plan assets 1.0 1.4
Divestitures – (8.5)
Employer contribution – 1.6
Plan participants' contributions 1.4 0.6
Benefits paid (8.0) (12.0)
Foreign currency translation (13.3) 3.9
Fair value of plan assets - ending balance $ 52.8 $ 39.8

Funded status $ 10.9 $ 1.1
Unamortised prior service cost 0.2 0.2
Unrecognised actuarial loss 0.1 9.1
Unrecognised net transition asset (2.4) (1.5)
Prepaid pension cost $ 8.8 $ 8.9

10. Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities consist of the following components:

March 31
(Millions of US dollars) 2001 2002
Trade creditors $ 40.4 $ 34.4
Other creditors and accruals 23.1 25.3
Total accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 63.5 $ 59.7

11. Short and Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt consists of the following components:

March 31
(Millions of US dollars) 2001 2002
US$ noncollateralised notes, 7.09% average rate $ 225.0 $ 225.0
A$ noncollateralised revolving loan facility 98.0 –
US$ noncollateralised revolving loan facility, 2.29% average rate – 100.0
A$ loan from the Medical Research and Compensation Foundation 34.3 –
Total long-term debt $ 357.3 $ 325.0

The US$ noncollateralised notes form part of a seven tranche private placement facility which provides for maximum borrowings of
$225.0 million. Principal repayments are due in seven installments that commence on November 5, 2004 and end on November 5,
2013. The tranches bear fixed interest rates of 6.86%, 6.92%, 6.99%, 7.05%, 7.12%, 7.24% and 7.42%, respectively. Interest is payable
in May and November each year.



The US$ denominated noncollateralised revolving loan facility 
can be repaid and redrawn until maturity in November 2004 
and provides for maximum borrowings of A$200.0 million 
($106.3 million). Interest is recalculated at the commencement of
each draw-down period based on the US$ LIBOR or the average
Australian bank bill rate plus the margins of individual lenders, and
is payable at the end of each draw-down period. At March 31,
2002, there was $6.3 million available under this revolving loan
facility and the weighted average interest rate was 5.98% and
2.29% as of March 31, 2001 and 2002, respectively.

The A$ loan from the Medical Research and Compensation
Foundation was repaid in full during the year ended March 31, 2002.

At March 31, 2002, the following are the scheduled maturities of
long-term debt for each of the next five years and in total thereafter:

(Millions of US dollars) Years Ending March 31
2003 $ –
2004 –
2005 124.0
2006 35.0
2007 37.0
Thereafter 129.0
Total $ 325.0

The Company has short-term noncollateralised stand-by loan
facilities which provide for maximum borrowings of $117.5 million.
At March 31, 2002, the facilities had a maturity date of April 30,
2003 and the Company had not drawn down any of these
facilities. Interest is recalculated at the commencement of each
draw-down period based on either the US$ LIBOR or the average
A$ bank bill bid rate plus the margins of the individual lenders and
is payable at the end of each draw-down period. At March 31,
2001, the weighted average interest rate on outstanding
borrowings under these facilities was 5.82%. 

The Company has a short-term US$ line of credit which provides
for maximum borrowings of $5.5 million. At March 31, 2002, 
the Company had drawn down $4.9 million on this line of credit. 
The line of credit can be repaid and redrawn until maturity on
December 31, 2002. Interest is recalculated at the commencement
of each draw-down period based on the 90-day Chilean Tasa
Activa Bancaria (“TAB”) rate plus a margin and is payable at the
end of each draw-down period. At March 31, 2001 and 2002, 
the weighted average interest rate on outstanding borrowings
under this facility was 8.88% and 7.80%, respectively.

At March 31, 2002, management believes it was in compliance
with all restrictive covenants contained in the noncollateralised
notes, revolving loan facility and the stand-by credit facility
agreements. Under the most restrictive of these covenants, 
JHNV is required to maintain certain ratios of debt to equity 
and net worth, and earnings before interest and taxes.

As a result of the completion of the sale of the Company’s Gypsum
business on April 25, 2002 (see Note 16), the Company was not
in compliance as of that date with certain pre approval covenants
of its US$ noncollateralised note agreements. The Company is
currently in discussions with the note holders with respect to
either the waiver or the renegotiation of such covenants. 

12. Other Liabilities

Other liabilities consist of the following components:

March 31
(Millions of US dollars) 2001 2002
Current other liabilities:
Reorganisation $ 3.3 $ 0.6
Surplus leased space 4.4 2.1
Medical Research 

and Compensation Foundation 2.7 2.9
Other 0.7 0.3
Total current other liabilities $ 11.1 $ 5.9

Non-current other liabilities:
Employee entitlements $ 4.9 $ 4.4
Warranty 2.7 9.8
Product liability 1.4 1.2
Derivative liability – 6.2
Reorganisation 1.2 –
Other 0.5 0.2
Total non-current other liabilities $ 10.7 $ 21.8

13. Commitments and Contingencies

Environmental
The operations of the Company, like those of other companies
engaged in similar businesses, are subject to various federal, 
state and local laws and regulations on air and water quality,
waste handling and disposal. The Company’s policy is to accrue
for environmental costs when it is determined that it is probable
that an obligation exists and the amount can be reasonably
estimated. In the opinion of management, based on information
presently known, the ultimate liability for such matters should not
have a material adverse effect on either the Company’s consolidated
financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Legal
The Company is involved from time to time in various legal
proceedings and administrative actions incident to the normal
conduct of its business. Although it is impossible to predict the
outcome of any pending legal proceeding, management believes
that such proceedings and actions should not, individually or 
in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on either its
consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Claims Against Former Subsidiaries
With the establishment and funding of the Medical Research and
Compensation Foundation (the “Foundation”) in February 2001
(see Note 16), the Company no longer owns or controls two
Australian companies which manufactured and marketed
asbestos-related products prior to 1987. From time to time, JHIL
is joined as a party to asbestos suits which are primarily directed
at these two former subsidiaries which are now controlled by the
Foundation. JHIL does not settle or compromise such claims, and
all such claims that have been litigated have been found in JHIL's
favour. In prior years and up to the date of the establishment of
the Foundation, these two former subsidiaries incurred costs of
asbestos-related litigation and settlements. Consequently, the
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Company held a provision for contingencies related to asbestos
litigation of $187.7 million at March 31, 2000. The provision at
March 31, 2000 included estimated costs of litigation and
settlements, but excluded internal legal department costs which
were expensed as incurred.

The Company calculated its asbestos provision based upon a
reasonable estimate of expected litigation and settlement costs to
be incurred in the ensuing 15 year period. Due to the significant
uncertainty associated with asbestos litigation, the Company was
unable to reasonably estimate costs beyond that point. As it is
difficult to predict the incidence or outcome of future litigation, 
it is reasonably possible that amounts greater than the provision
established could be incurred by these two former subsidiaries
now owned and controlled by the Foundation.

As these two former subsidiaries are no longer a part of James
Hardie, and all such claims have been successfully defended by
JHIL, no provision has been established in the Company’s
accounts at March 31, 2001 or 2002. While it is difficult to predict
the incidence or outcome of future litigation, the Company
believes it is remote that any significant personal injury suits for
damages in connection with the former manufacture or sale of
asbestos containing products that are or may be filed against
JHIL or its current subsidiaries would have a material adverse
effect on its business, results of operations or financial condition.
This belief is based in part on the separateness of corporate
entities under Australian law, the limited circumstances where
“piercing the corporate veil” might occur under Australian law, 
and there being no equivalent under Australian law of the U.S.
legal doctrine of “successor liability”. The courts in Australia have
confirmed the primacy of separate corporate entities and have
generally refused to hold parent entities responsible for the
liabilities of their subsidiaries absent any finding of fraud, agency,
direct operational responsibility or the like.

Asbestos litigation and settlement payments were $11.9 million
and $11.5 million for the years ended March 31, 2000 and 2001,
respectively.

Operating Leases
As the lessee, the Company principally enters into property,
building and equipment leases. The following are future minimum
lease payments for non-cancellable operating leases having a
remaining term in excess of one year at March 31, 2002:

Years Ending
(Millions of US dollars) March 31
2003 $ 10.3
2004 9.2
2005 8.4
2006 8.4
2007 8.4
Thereafter 73.3
Total $118.0

Rental expense amounted to $6.6 million, $7.8 million and $8.0
million for the years ended March 31, 2000, 2001 and 2002,
respectively.

Capital Commitments
Commitments for the acquisition of plant and equipment, primarily
in the US, contracted for but not recognised as liabilities and
generally payable within one year, were $5.8 million at March 
31, 2002.

Other Commitments
On June 28, 2001, the Company entered into an agreement to
sell its gypsum mine in Las Vegas, Nevada to a developer for
approximately $50.0 million. The sale of the mine is subject to
certain conditions, including completion of planning and regulatory
approvals, which may take approximately two years to obtain. 
The sale will be recognised when all conditions have been met.

14. Restructuring and Other Operating Expenses 
and Other (Expense) Income, Net

In the year ended March 31, 2000, the Company incurred
employee termination costs of $4.1 million for 251 employees
associated with the restructuring and upgrade of the Australian
fibre cement business. Of the terminated employees, 11 worked
in sales, 38 in administration and 202 were hourly paid workers in
manufacturing and distribution. All of these employees had left
their positions by March 31, 2000.

In March 2001, the Company announced the creation of a new
division for its fibre cement business in the Asia Pacific region,
commencing with the 2002 fiscal year. The new regional division
comprises the fibre cement operations in Australia, New Zealand
and the Philippines. As a result, the Company had decided to
phase out manufacturing at its Perth, Western Australia facility
during the course of calendar year 2001. Accordingly,
restructuring costs of $15.5 million were incurred in the Asia
Pacific fibre cement segment for the year ended March 31, 2001.
The Company incurred employee termination costs of $5.4 million
for 189 employees, 8 from sales, 23 from administration, 5 from
marketing and 153 hourly paid workers in manufacturing and
distribution. One employee had left by March 31, 2001. Except 
for 2 from administration, the balance of employees had left their
positions by March 31, 2002. Included in the restructuring costs
were $7.5 million for the write down of fixed assets to their
estimated fair value and $2.6 million for lease cancellation charges.

Corporate reorganisation expenses represent the costs incurred in
relation to the 2001 Reorganisation. Included in these expenses is
$2.3 million paid to PricewaterhouseCoopers for related
professional services.

On February 14, 2002, the Company signed a Class Action
Settlement Agreement for all product, warranty and property
related liability claims associated with its roofing products, which
were previously manufactured and sold by the US Fibre Cement
business. These products were removed from the marketplace
between 1995 and 1998 in areas where there had been any
alleged problems. Consequently, the Company recorded a pre-tax
charge of $12.6 million in fiscal year 2002 to cover the estimated
cost of the settlement, and the estimated cost of any other
pending claims or lawsuits remaining which are not covered 
by the settlement, as well as all related costs that may be paid
under the Settlement Agreement. The total liability included in 
the balance sheet relating to the Settlement Agreement as of
March 31, 2002 was approximately $11.5 million.
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Restructuring and other operating expenses consist of the following components:

Years Ended March 31
(Millions of US dollars) 2000 2001 2002
Restructuring:
Asia Pacific Fibre Cement employee termination costs $ (4.1) $ (5.4) $ –
Asia Pacific Fibre Cement fixed asset impairment charge – (7.5) –
Asia Pacific Fibre Cement lease cancellation charges – (2.6) –

Other operating expenses:
Decrease in fair value of derivative contracts –  –  (8.1)
Corporate reorganisation expenses –  –  (7.4)
Class action settlement and roofing warranties –  – (12.6)

$ (4.1) $ (15.5) $ (28.1)

The following table displays the activity and balances of the restructuring accrual account, which is included in other liabilities, 
from April 1, 1999 to March 31, 2002 (in millions of US dollars):

April 1 March 31
1999 2000

Type of Cost Balance Additions Deductions Balance
Employee terminations $ 3.1 $ 4.1 $ (5.6) $ 1.6
Surplus lease space 7.9 –  (2.9) 5.0
Total $ 11.0 $ 4.1 $ (8.5) $ 6.6

April 1 March 31 
2000      2001   

Type of Cost Balance Additions Deductions Balance
Employee terminations $ 1.6 $ 5.4 $ (2.3) $ 4.7
Surplus lease space 5.0 2.6 (3.2) 4.4
Total $ 6.6 $ 8.0 $ (5.5) $ 9.1

April 1 March 31
2001 2002

Type of Cost Balance Additions Deductions Balance
Employee terminations $ 4.7 $ 0.3 $ (4.1) $ 0.9
Surplus lease space 4.4 0.3 (2.6) 2.1
Total $ 9.1 $ 0.6 $ (6.7) $ 3.0

Additions reflect foreign currency movements and deductions reflect payments except for $0.4 million in fiscal year 2002, which related
to a reversal of part of the employee termination reserve. 

Other (expense) income, net consists of dividend investment (expense) income of ($1.6) million, $1.6 million and ($0.4) million for the
years ended March 31, 2000, 2001 and 2002, respectively.
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15. Income Taxes

The income tax (expense) benefit includes income taxes currently payable and those deferred because of temporary differences 
between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities. 

The income tax (expense) benefit for income from continuing operations consists of the following components:

Years Ended March 31
(Millions of US dollars) 2000 2001 2002
Income from continuing operations before income tax expense:
Domestic (1) $ 38.1 $ 6.4 $ 10.1
Foreign – 22.9 20.4

$ 38.1 $ 29.3 $ 30.5

Income tax (expense) benefit:
Current

Domestic (1) $ (2.9) $ (2.5) $ (2.2)
Foreign (2.9) (10.5) (2.6)

(5.8) (13.0) (4.8)
Deferred

Domestic (1) – – 0.2
Foreign (7.7) 13.3 0.7

(7.7) 13.3 0.9
Total income tax (expense) benefit for continuing operations $ (13.5) $ 0.3 $ (3.9)

Income tax (expense) benefit for discontinued operations consists of the following components:

Years Ended March 31
(Millions of US dollars) 2000 2001 2002
Income tax (expense) benefit on discontinued operations:
Current

Foreign $ (29.6) $ 3.6 $ (0.5)
(29.6) 3.6 (0.5)

Deferred
Foreign (12.8) (20.0) 0.8

(12.8) (20.0) 0.8

Income tax (expense) benefit on disposal of discontinued operations (3.3) 0.6 0.5
Total income tax (expense) benefit for discontinued operations $ (45.7) $ (15.8) $ 0.8

(1) As JHI NV, a Dutch company, is the new ultimate holding company, domestic represents The Netherlands.
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The income tax (expense) benefit is reconciled to the tax at the statutory rates as follows:

Years Ended March 31
(Millions of US dollars) 2000 2001 2002
Continuing operations
Income tax expense computed at the statutory tax rates $ (14.4) $ (11.9) $ (8.8)
US state income taxes, net of the federal benefit (0.1) 2.5 0.9
Expenses not deductible (0.8) (1.2) (2.1)
Non-assessable items 1.4 12.4 9.3
Losses not available for carry-forward (3.2) (1.9) (3.9)
Taxes related to 2001 Reorganisation – – (18.7)
Reversal of valuation allowance – – 18.7
Other items 3.6 0.4 0.7
Total income tax (expense) benefit $ (13.5) $ 0.3 $ (3.9)
Effective tax rate 35.4% (1.0)% 12.8%

Discontinued operations
Income tax (expense) benefit computed at the statutory tax rates $ (42.8) $ (14.6) $ 0.2
US state income taxes, net of the federal benefit (4.0) (2.8) –
Expenses not deductible (0.2) (0.2) (0.1)
Non-taxable income 0.2 0.6 –
Tax rate change (2.3) – –
Other items 6.7 0.6 0.2
Total income tax (expense) benefit $ (42.4) $ (16.4) $ 0.3

The income tax (expense) benefit computed at the statutory rates represents taxes on income applicable to all jurisdictions in which the
Company conducts business, calculated as the statutory income tax rate in each jurisdiction multiplied by the pre-tax income attributable
to that jurisdiction.

Australian legislation reduced the country's income tax rate from 36% to 34% in the year ended March 31, 2001 and to 30% in the year
ended March 31, 2002. Consequently, the Company adjusted its Australian deferred tax assets and liabilities at March 31, 2000 and
2001 using the appropriate tax rate for the period in which the related timing differences reverse. This adjustment resulted in a tax benefit
of $0.7 million for the year ended March 31, 2001.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements continued
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Deferred tax balances consist of the following components:

March 31
(Millions of US dollars) 2001 2002
Deferred tax assets:
Provisions and accruals $ 40.3 $ 36.3
Income received in advance 1.4 –
Net operating loss carry-forwards 42.5 37.3
AMT credit carry-forwards – 7.0
Capital loss carry-forwards 0.4 0.5
Foreign currency movements 1.8 0.6
Foreign tax credit carry-forwards 3.5 1.4
Other 0.1 –

90.0 83.1
Valuation allowance (67.5) (42.8)

22.5 40.3
Deferred tax liabilities:
Plant and equipment (15.8) (32.1)
Prepaid pension cost (2.6) (2.7)
Prepayments – (0.4)

(18.4) (35.2)
Total deferred taxes, net $ 4.1 $ 5.1

Under SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” the Company establishes a valuation allowance against a deferred tax asset if it is
more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax asset will not be realised. The Company has established a valuation
allowance pertaining to its liability to the Medical Research and Compensation Foundation, and for a portion of its Australian net
operating loss carry-forwards and all of its Australian capital loss carry-forwards.

At March 31, 2002, the undistributed earnings of non-Dutch subsidiaries approximated $140.4 million. The Company intends to
indefinitely reinvest these earnings, and accordingly, has not provided for taxes payable upon remittance of those earnings. Such taxes
would approximate $19.2 million.

At March 31, 2002, the Company has foreign net operating loss carry-forwards of approximately $114.2 million, of which $16.6 million
will expire at March 31, 2022, and $97.6 million will never expire. The Company also has US state net operating loss carry-forwards of
approximately $54.6 million with varying expiration dates.

The following are the changes in the valuation allowance :

Years Ended March 31
(Millions of US dollars) 2000 2001 2002
Balance at beginning of period $ (71.9) $ (60.5) $ (67.5)
Cumulative translation adjustment – (12.6) 7.8
Reduction (addition) to expense:

Capital gains brought back to account – 0.1 –
Timing differences brought back to account 0.9 1.2 9.7
Net operating losses brought back to account 0.5 3.1 8.8
Tax rate change 8.1 4.9 (0.1)

Reduction through sale of a business – – 3.3
Transfer from discontinued operations – (17.8) –
Foreign currency movements 1.9 14.1 (4.8)
Balance at end of period $ (60.5) $ (67.5) $ (42.8)



16. Discontinued Operations

Gypsum
On March 13, 2002, the Company announced that it had signed
agreements to sell its US-based Gypsum operations to a third
party for $345.0 million in cash. The transaction was completed
on April 25, 2002. The Company expects to realise an after tax
gain on the sale of approximately $45.0 million to $50.0 million.
Accordingly, the Company has recorded a gain on disposal from
discontinued operations in the amount of $1.0 million,
representing operating income of $1.8 million earned by the
Gypsum business after the measurement date (deemed to be
February 28, 2002) through March 31, 2002, less applicable
income taxes of $0.8 million. The net assets of Gypsum at March
31, 2002 consist primarily of trade receivables, inventory, trade
creditors, mineral reserves, property, plant and equipment,
goodwill and deferred taxes.

James Hardie & Coy Pty Ltd and Jsekarb Pty Ltd
On February 16, 2001, JHIL announced that it had established 
a foundation to compensate individuals with claims against two
former James Hardie subsidiaries and to fund medical research
into asbestos-related diseases. JHIL gifted A$3.0 million in cash
and transferred ownership of Amaca Pty Ltd (formerly James
Hardie & Coy Pty Ltd) (“JH & Coy”) and Amaba Pty Ltd (formerly
Jsekarb Pty Ltd) (“Jsekarb”) to the Medical Research and
Compensation Foundation (the “Foundation”), a special purpose
charitable foundation established to fund medical and scientific
research into asbestos-related diseases. JH & Coy and Jsekarb
manufactured and marketed asbestos-related products prior to
1987, when all such activities ceased.

The Foundation is managed by independent trustees and
operates entirely independently of James Hardie. James Hardie
does not control the activities of the Foundation in any way and,
effective from February 16, 2001, does not own or control the
activities of JH & Coy or Jsekarb. In particular, the trustees are
responsible for the effective management of claims against 
JH & Coy and Jsekarb, and for the investment of their assets.
James Hardie has no economic interest in the Foundation, 
JH & Coy or Jsekarb; it has no right to dividends or capital
distributions, nor will it benefit in the event that there is ultimately 
a surplus of funds in the Foundation, JH & Coy or Jsekarb
following satisfaction of all asbestos-related liabilities.

As a result of the change in ownership of JH & Coy and Jsekarb
on February 16, 2001, a gain on disposal of $2.3 million has been
recorded by James Hardie at March 31, 2001, representing the
net liabilities of JH & Coy and Jsekarb which were disposed of for
no consideration, the A$3.0 million ($1.7 million) cash gift to the
Foundation together with costs associated with the establishment
and funding of the Foundation.  JHIL had agreed to repay an
existing loan of A$70.0 million ($34.3 million) due to JH & Coy in
four annual tranches of A$15.0 million and a final tranche of
A$10.0 million with the first tranche payable on August 15, 2002.
However, the loan was repaid in full by JHIL during fiscal year 2002.

As part of the establishment and funding of the Foundation, JHIL
has entered into an agreement to pay to JH & Coy and Jsekarb
42 annual payments of A$5.6 million, totalling A$234.2 million
($114.7 million). Under the agreement, JHIL has the option of
making the first seven payments and then a final payment of

A$73.0 million when the eighth payment becomes due, making a
total payment of A$112.0 million ($54.9 million). In addition, in the
event claims against the two former subsidiaries exceed certain
amounts, the Foundation has the right to demand payment of 
any remaining unpaid balance, discounted for early payment. On
September 9, 2001, JHIL made an early payment of A$1.0 million
($0.5 million) to the Foundation. This payment was in addition to
the annual required payment that is made each February. As a
result, the required annual payments of A$5.6 million have been
reduced to A$5.5 million.

In 1998, the Company entered into lease agreements with JH &
Coy whereby the Company leases, on a long-term basis, four
fibre cement manufacturing facilities in Australia. Obligations under
such leases amount to an aggregate of approximately $2.7 million
per year. All of the leases expire on October 31, 2008. The leases
contain renewal options and provisions adjusting lease payments
based on changes in various market factors as reflected in
changes in the consumer price index. 

Windows
On August 15, 2000, the Company approved a plan to dispose of
its Windows business. For the year ended March 31, 2001, the
Company recorded a loss on disposal of $17.4 million, net of an
income tax benefit of $0.6 million. This loss on disposal consisted
of $17.2 million for a write down of assets to their expected net
realisable value on disposal and transaction costs expected to be
incurred on disposal. At March 31, 2001, operating losses from
August 15, 2000 to the final disposal date were estimated at $0.8
million and were included in fiscal year 2001’s loss on disposal for
the Windows segment.

On November 30, 2001, the Company sold its Windows
business. The Company recorded a gain on disposal of
discontinued operations of $2.0 million representing the excess 
of cash proceeds of $7.8 million over the net book value of the
assets sold of $5.8 million, a retirement plan settlement loss of
$1.3 million and an income tax benefit of $1.3 million. The cash
proceeds were offset by cash divested of $0.5 million.

Building Systems
By contract dated September 6, 1999, the Company sold the
Bondor business, a part of the Building Systems segment, to a
third party. This divestment was consummated on September 30,
1999. A gain of $2.9 million represented the excess of the
proceeds from the sale of $7.2 million over the net book value of
the assets sold of $5.1 million and a retirement plan settlement
gain of $0.8 million. The sale resulted in an income tax expense of
$1.0 million. The proceeds from the sale were comprised of cash
of $9.2 million less selling costs of $1.2 million and repayment of
payables of $0.8 million.

On February 29, 2000, the Company sold the remaining Building
Systems segment comprising the Ausco portable building
business to a third party. A gain of $13.2 million represented the
excess of the proceeds from the sale of $77.5 million over the net
book value of the assets sold of $68.3 million, a retirement plan
settlement gain of $1.6 million, and income from the October
1999 measurement date forward of $2.4 million. The sale resulted
in an income tax expense of $2.3 million. The proceeds from the
sale were comprised of cash of $90.4 million less selling costs of
$12.9 million.
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17. Stock-Based Compensation

Peter Donald Macdonald Share Option Plans

Peter Donald Macdonald Share Option Plan
On November 17, 1999, 1,200,000 options were granted by JHIL
at fair market value to Mr. Peter D. Macdonald, Chief Executive
Officer of JHIL at that time, under the Peter Donald Macdonald
Share Option Plan. Each option conferred the right to subscribe
for one ordinary share in the capital of JHIL at a price of A$3.87
payable by Mr. Macdonald or his nominee at the time of exercise
of the options. As part of the 2001 Reorganisation, JHIL
terminated this option plan and JHI NV granted Mr. Macdonald a
replacement option plan to purchase 1,200,000 shares of JHI NV
common stock at an exercise price of A$3.87 per share. As with
the original JHIL option grant, this stock option plan vests and
becomes exercisable in three equal installments of 400,000
shares after November 17, 2002, 2003 and 2004. The JHI NV
plan contains the same terms as the JHIL plan. The exercise price
and the number of shares available on exercise may be adjusted
on the occurrence of certain events, including new issues, share
splits, rights issues and capital reconstructions, as set out in the
plan rules. Consequently, the exercise price was reduced by
A$0.10 to A$3.77,  for the December 2001 return of capital.

Options which have not lapsed may be exercised on any date 
on or after there has been a change of control of JHI NV or 
Mr. Macdonald’s termination, resignation or death. Options not

exercised will lapse on the first to occur of: (a) 10 years from the
date of issue; or (b) expiration of six months after the date on
which Mr. Macdonald dies or six months after he ceases to be
employed by JHI NV.

Peter Donald Macdonald Share Option Plan 2001
On July 12, 2001, 624,000 options were granted by JHIL at fair
market value to Mr. Peter D. Macdonald, Chief Executive Officer 
of JHIL at that time, under the Peter Donald Macdonald Share
Option Plan 2001.  Each option conferred the right to subscribe
for one ordinary share in the capital of JHIL at the price of A$5.45
per share payable by Mr. Macdonald or his nominee at the time of
exercise of the options. As part of the 2001 Reorganisation, JHIL
terminated this option plan and JHI NV granted Mr. Macdonald a
replacement option plan to purchase 624,000 shares of JHI NV
common stock at an exercise price of A$5.45 per share. The
options may only be exercised if the Company meets certain
performance hurdles. The first 468,000 options are exercisable
after July 12, 2004 if JHI NV’s total shareholder returns (“TSR”) are
equal to or greater than the median TSR for the Company’s peer
group as set out in the plan. For every 1% that JHI NV’s TSR is
greater than the median peer group’s TSR, an additional 6,240
options are exercisable, up to 156,000 options. As set out in the
plan rules, the exercise price and the number of shares available
on exercise may be adjusted on the occurrence of certain events,

The following are the results of operations of discontinued businesses:

Years Ended March 31
(Millions of US dollars) 2000 2001 2002
Building Systems
Net sales $ 68.8 $ – $ –
Income before income tax expense 5.0 – –
Income tax expense (1.8) – –
Net income 3.2 – –
Windows
Net sales 59.9 24.0 –
Loss before income tax (expense) benefit (0.6) (0.9) –
Income tax (expense) benefit (0.4) 0.2 –
Net loss (1.0) (0.7) –
James Hardie & Coy Pty Ltd and Jsekarb Pty Ltd
Net sales 0.2 0.2 –
Income before income tax benefit 0.1 0.7 –
Income tax benefit 3.5 0.5 –
Net income 3.6 1.2 –
Gypsum
Net sales 358.5 279.0 223.0
Income (loss) before income tax (expense) benefit 118.3 40.6 (0.6)
Income tax (expense) benefit (43.7) (17.1) 0.3
Net income (loss) 74.6 23.5 (0.3)
Total
Net sales 487.4 303.2 223.0
Income (loss) before income tax (expense) benefit 122.8 40.4 (0.6)
Income tax (expense) benefit (42.4) (16.4) 0.3
Net income (loss) 80.4 24.0 (0.3)
Gain (loss) on disposal, net of income taxes 12.8 (15.1) 3.0
Income from discontinued operations $ 93.2 $ 8.9 $ 2.7



including new issues, share splits, rights issues and capital reconstructions. Consequently, the exercise price was reduced by A$0.10, 
to A$5.35, for the December 2001 return of capital. The plan is accounted for as a variable plan and, accordingly, compensation
expense of $0.1 million was recognised in fiscal year 2002.

Options which have not lapsed may be exercised on any date on or after there has been a change of control of JHI NV or Mr.
Macdonald’s termination, resignation or death. Options not exercised will lapse on the first to occur of: (a) 10 years from the date of issue;
or (b) expiration of six months after the date on which Mr. Macdonald dies or six months after he ceases to be employed by JHI NV.

KMEIP Option Plan
On October 19, 2001 (the grant date), JHI NV granted a total of 5,468,829 stock options to key US executives in exchange for their
previously granted Key Management Equity Incentive Plan ("KMEIP") shadow shares that were originally granted in November 1999 and
2000 by JHIL. These options may be exercised in five equal tranches (20% each year) starting with the first anniversary of the original
shadow share grant. The plan is accounted as a fixed plan. The details of these options are as follows:

Original Shadow Exercise Number of % Vested 2002 as of Option 
Share Grant Date Price Options March 31, 2002 Expiration Date
November 1999 A$ 3.82 1,968,544 40% November 2009
November 2000 A$ 3.78 3,500,285 20% November 2010

At the time of the exchange, the Company's share price was A$4.36. Accordingly, for the year ended March 31, 2002, compensation
expense of $0.2 million has been recorded for the vested variance between the exercise prices of the options and the Company’s share
price at the grant date.

As set out in the plan rules, the exercise prices and the number of shares available on exercise may be adjusted on the occurrence of
certain events, including new issues, share splits, rights issues and capital reconstructions. Consequently, due to the December 2001
return of capital, the exercise price was reduced by A$0.10, to A$3.72 and A$3.68 for the November 1999 and November 2000 grants,
respectively.

2001 Equity Incentive Plan
On December 17, 2001, 4,248,417 options were granted by JHI NV at fair market value to non-director executives of the Company
under the JHI NV 2001 Equity Incentive Plan. Each option confers the right to subscribe for one ordinary share in the capital of JHI NV 
at a price of A$5.65 per share payable by the executive. The options may be exercised as follows: 25% after December 17, 2002; 25%
after December 17, 2003; and 50% after December 17, 2004. All unexercised options expire 10 years from the date of issue, December
17, 2011, or 90 days after the executive ceases to be employed by the Company.

The Company accounts for stock-based compensation in accordance with APB Opinion No. 25 and discloses such compensation under
the provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.” Fair value is estimated using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions:

Peter  Peter KMEIP KMEIP 2001 
Macdonald Macdonald Option Plan Option Plan Equity

Share Option Share Option November November Incentive
Plan Plan 2001 1999 2000 Plan

Grant Date Nov 17, 99 July 12, 01 Oct 19, 01 Oct 19, 01 Dec 17, 01
Expected life (years) 5.0 9.8 5.0 5.0 5.0 
Risk-free interest rate 6.4% 4.8% 3.9% 3.9% 3.9%
Expected volatility 35.2% 27.0% 22.0% 22.0% 22.0%
Dividend yield 4.2% 4.5% 4.5% 4.5% 3.4%
Fair value at grant date A$ 0.98 A$ 0.76 A$ 0.88 A$ 0.87 A$ 0.98

If the Company had elected to recognise compensation cost for stock-based compensation grants consistent with the method prescribed
by SFAS No. 123, net income and net income per common share would have been changed to the following pro forma amounts:

Years Ended March 31
(Millions of US dollars, except per share data) 2000 2001 2002
Net income: As reported $ 117.8 $ 38.2 $ 29.3

Pro forma 117.8 38.1 28.0
Basic EPS: As reported $ 0.29 $ 0.09 $ 0.07

Pro forma 0.29 0.09 0.06
Diluted EPS: As reported $ 0.29 $ 0.09 $ 0.07

Pro forma 0.29 0.09 0.06
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Shadow Stock Plans
The US Shadow Stock Plan provides an incentive to certain key
employees in the United States based on growth in the JHI NV
share price over time as if such employees were the owners of
that number of JHI NV’s common stock as are equal to the
number of shares of shadow stock issued to employees. The
vesting period of these shadow stock plans is five years. The last
grant date under the US Shadow Stock Plan was December 17,
2001. The total number of shadow stock shares outstanding
under the plans at March 31, 2000, 2001 and 2002 were
4,586,000 shares, 7,754,000 shares and 1,727,000 shares,
respectively.

In December 1998, a shadow stock plan for non-US based
employees was instituted under similar terms to the US Shadow
Stock Plan with a vesting period of three years.  The last grant
date under this plan was August 15, 2001. The total number of
shadow stock shares outstanding at March 31, 2000, 2001 and
2002 were 3,099,000 shares, 4,633,000 shares and 2,325,000
shares, respectively.

The plans have been accounted for as variable plans under APB
Opinion No. 25 and, accordingly, compensation expense of $1.0
million, $0.8 million and $5.1 million was recognised in fiscal years
2000, 2001 and 2002, respectively. The portion of this compensation
expense (income) related to Gypsum employees was $0.3 million,
($0.2) million and $0.9 million for the years ended March 31,
2000, 2001 and 2002, respectively.

Executive Share Purchase Plan
Prior to July 1998, JHIL issued stock under an Executive Share
Purchase Plan. Under the terms of the Plan, eligible executives
had purchased JHIL shares at their market price when issued.
Executives funded purchases of JHIL shares with non-recourse,
interest-free loans provided by JHIL and collateralised by the
shares. In such cases, the amount of indebtedness is reduced by
any amounts payable by JHIL in respect of such shares, including
dividends. These loans are generally payable within two years
after termination of an executive's employment. As part of the
2001 Reorganisation, the identical terms of the agreement have
been carried over to JHI NV. Variable plan accounting per APB
Opinion No. 25 has been applied to the Executive Share Purchase
Plan. Accordingly, the Company recorded compensation expense
of $0.6 million, $0.6 million and $2.2 million for the years ended
March 31, 2000, 2001 and 2002, respectively. No shares were
issued to executives during fiscal years 2000, 2001 and 2002.

The following table shows the movement in the Company’s outstanding options:

(In Australian dollars) 2000 2001 2002
Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average
Number Exercise Number of Exercise Number of Exercise 

of Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price

Outstanding at beginning of year –  A$ –  1,200,000 A$ 3.87 1,200,000  A$ 3.77 
Granted 1,200,000 3.87 –  –  10,341,246 4.37
Exercised –  –  –  –  (496,257) 3.75
Forfeited –  –  –  –  (75,427) 5.65
Outstanding at end of year 1,200,000 A$ 3.87 1,200,000 A$ 3.87 10,969,562 A$ 4.54

Options exercisable at March 31 –  –  –  –  1,122,022 A$ 3.70

The following table summarises information about the Company's stock options outstanding at March 31, 2002:

(In Australian dollars) Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted

Average Weighted Weighted
Number Remaining Average Number Average

Range of Outstanding at Contractual Exercise Exercisable at Exercise
Exercise Prices March 31, 2002 Life (in years) Price March 31, 2002 Price   

A$ 3.68 3,269,998 8.7 A$ 3.68 543,487 A$ 3.68
3.72 1,711,423 7.7 3.72 578,535 3.72
3.77 1,200,000 7.7 3.77 – –
5.35 624,000 9.3 5.35 – –
5.65 4,164,141 9.8 5.65 – –

A$ 3.68 to A$ 5.65 10,969,562 8.9 A$ 4.54 1,122,022 A$ 3.70



18. Financial Instruments

Foreign Currency
As a multinational corporation, the Company maintains significant
operations in foreign countries. As a result of these activities, the
Company is exposed to changes in exchange rates which affect
its results of operations and cash flows. At March 31, 2001 and
2002, the Company had not entered into contracts to hedge
these exposures.

The Company purchases raw materials and fixed assets and sells
some finished product for amounts denominated in currencies
other than the functional currency of the business in which the
related transaction is generated. In order to protect against foreign
exchange rate movements, the Company may enter into forward
exchange contracts timed to mature when settlement of the
underlying transaction is due to occur. At March 31, 2001 and
2002, there were no such material contracts outstanding.

Credit Risk
Financial instruments which potentially subject the Company to
credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents,
investments and trade accounts receivable.

The Company maintains cash and cash equivalents, investments
and certain other financial instruments with various major financial
institutions. The Company performs periodic evaluations of the
relative credit standing of these financial institutions and, where
appropriate, places limits on the amount of credit exposure with
any one institution.

For off balance sheet financial instruments, including derivatives,
credit risk also arises from the potential failure of counter parties
to meet their obligations under the respective contracts at
maturity. The Company controls risk through the use of credit
ratings and reviews.

The Company is exposed to losses on forward exchange
contracts in the event that counter parties fail to deliver the
contracted amount. The credit exposure to the Company is
calculated as the net fair value of all contracts outstanding with
that counter party. At March 31, 2001 and 2002, total credit
exposure arising from forward exchange contracts was zero.

Credit risk with respect to trade accounts receivable is
concentrated due to the concentration of the distribution channels
for the Company’s fibre cement products. Credit is extended
based on an evaluation of each customer's financial condition
and, generally, collateral is not required. The Company has
historically not incurred significant credit losses.

Derivatives
In August 2000, the Company entered into a contract with a third
party to hedge the price of 5,000 metric tons per month of pulp, 
a major commodity used in the manufacture of fibre cement
products. Under the terms of the contract, if the published market
price of the commodity is greater than the contract price of $615
per metric ton, the third party will pay the difference to the
Company. Alternatively, if the published market price is lower than
the contract price, the Company will pay the difference to the third
party. The original contract term was effective from September 1,
2000 to August 31, 2005, with settlement payments due each
month. On December 2, 2001, the counter party filed for
bankruptcy. This had the effect of terminating all outstanding
swap transactions immediately prior to the bankruptcy filing. The
estimated fair value at the date of termination of the pulp contract
is a $6.2 million liability and is recorded in other non-current
liabilities. This will remain recorded as a liability until the Company
reaches a final settlement with the counter party, but the
Company does not believe the final settlement will exceed the
amount recorded. For the twelve months ended March 31, 2002,
this derivative did not qualify as a hedge for accounting purposes.

Interest Rates
At March 31, 2002, the Company had approximately 32% of its
debt subject to variable interest rates. No interest rate hedging
contracts in respect to that debt have been entered into.

Fair Values
The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, marketable
securities, accounts receivable, short-term borrowings and
accounts payable and accrued liabilities are a reasonable estimate
of their fair value due to the short-term nature of these
instruments. The following table summarises the estimated fair
value of the Company's long-term debt:

March 31
(Millions of US dollars) 2001 2002

Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value
Long-term debt:
Floating $ 132.3 $ 132.3 $ 100.0 $ 100.0
Fixed 225.0 226.7 225.0 227.5
Total $ 357.3 $ 359.0 $ 325.0 $ 327.5

Fair values of long-term debt were determined by reference to the March 31, 2001 and 2002 market values for comparably rated debt
instruments.
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19. Operating Segment Information and Concentrations of Risk

The Company has reported its operating segment information in the format that the operating segment information is available to 
and evaluated by the Board of Directors. US Fibre Cement manufactures and sells fibre cement flat sheet products in the United States.
Asia Pacific Fibre Cement manufactures and sells fibre cement products in Australia, New Zealand and the Philippines. Research and
Development is the Research and Development centre in Sydney, Australia. Other includes the manufacture and sale of fibre cement
products in Chile and the manufacture and sale of fibre cement reinforced pipes in the United States. The Company's reportable
operating segments are strategic operating units that are managed separately due to their different products and/or geographical
location.

Operating Segments
The following are the Company’s operating segments and geographical information:

Net Sales to Customers (1)
Years Ended March 31

(Millions of US dollars) 2000 2001 2002
US Fibre Cement $ 310.5 $ 373.0 $ 444.8
Asia Pacific Fibre Cement 203.3 166.6 156.9
Other – – 4.2
Segments total 513.8 539.6 605.9
General Corporate 2.0 1.3 1.0
Worldwide total from continuing operations $ 515.8 $ 540.9 $ 606.9

Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations
Years Ended March 31

(Millions of US dollars) 2000 2001 2002
US Fibre Cement (2), (3) $ 72.3 $ 73.5 $ 85.8
Asia Pacific Fibre Cement (2), (4) 19.8 4.4 22.4
Research and Development (2) (11.3) (6.5) (10.0)
Other – (2.9) (8.2)
Eliminate intercompany transactions (5) 2.3 1.7 –
Segments total 83.1 70.2 90.0
General Corporate (6) (22.9) (29.3) (43.1)
Total operating profit 60.2 40.9 46.9
Net interest expense (7) (20.5) (13.2) (16.0)
Other (expense) income, net (1.6) 1.6 (0.4)
Worldwide total from continuing operations $ 38.1 $ 29.3 $ 30.5

Total Identifiable Assets
March 31

(Millions of US dollars) 2001 2002
US Fibre Cement $ 336.8 $ 420.3
Asia Pacific Fibre Cement 139.9 147.6
Other 39.9 45.5
Segments total 516.6 613.4
General Corporate (8) 157.0 84.3
Discontinued operations 228.7 215.8
Worldwide total $ 902.3 $ 913.5



Additions to Property, 
Plant and Equipment (9)
Years Ended March 31

(Millions of US dollars) 2000 2001 2002
US Fibre Cement $ 35.6 $ 75.4 $ 39.3
Asia Pacific Fibre Cement 9.6 7.9 8.1
Other – 32.3 3.3
Segments total 45.2 115.6 50.7
General Corporate 0.2 – 0.1
Discontinued operations 64.9 6.7 1.6
Worldwide total $ 110.3 $ 122.3 $ 52.4

Depreciation and Amortisation
Years Ended March 31

(Millions of US dollars) 2000 2001 2002
US Fibre Cement $ 11.0 $ 11.3 $ 14.5
Asia Pacific Fibre Cement 9.9 9.1 8.8
Other –  –  0.2
Segments total 20.9 20.4 23.5
General Corporate 0.4 0.4 0.2
Discontinued operations 28.1 16.9 16.2
Worldwide total $ 49.4 $ 37.7 $ 39.9

Net Sales to Customers (1)
Years Ended March 31

(Millions of US dollars) 2000 2001 2002
Geographic Areas
United States $ 310.5 $ 373.0 $ 447.3
Australia 140.7 111.0 100.7
New Zealand 48.7 38.0 38.0
Other Countries 13.9 17.6 19.9
Segments total 513.8 539.6 605.9
General Corporate 2.0 1.3 1.0
Worldwide total from continuing operations $ 515.8 $ 540.9 $ 606.9

Total Identifiable Assets
March 31

(Millions of US dollars) 2001 2002
Geographic Areas
United States $ 368.2 $ 456.0
Australia 72.4 80.6
New Zealand 21.0 24.7
Other Countries 55.0 52.1
Segments total 516.6 613.4
General Corporate (8) 157.0 84.3
Discontinued operations 228.7 215.8
Worldwide total $ 902.3 $ 913.5
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(1) Export sales and inter-segment sales are not significant.

(2) Research and development costs of $6.3 million, $6.3 million
and $4.0 million in 2000, 2001 and 2002, respectively, were
expensed in the US Fibre Cement operating segment. Research
and development costs of $0.9 million, $2.2 million and $2.0
million in 2000, 2001 and 2002, respectively, were expensed in
the Asia Pacific Fibre Cement segment.

Research and development expenditures are expensed as
incurred and in total amounted to $18.3 million, $14.5 million and
$14.1 million for the years ended March 31, 2000, 2001 and
2002, respectively. 

(3) In fiscal 2002, the operating profit of US Fibre Cement was
reduced by a $12.6 million charge for the settlement of all
product, warranty and property related liability claims associated
with roofing products, which were previously manufactured and
sold by the Company (see Note 14).

(4) The operating profit of Asia Pacific Fibre Cement was reduced
by restructuring and other expenses of $4.1 million and $15.5
million for the years ended March 31, 2000 and 2001, respectively
(see Note 14).

(5) Relates to property rent paid by the Asia Pacific Fibre Cement
segment to former subsidiaries of the Company which are now
controlled by the Medical Research and Compensation
Foundation.

(6) The principal components of General Corporate are officer and
employee compensation and related benefits, professional and
legal fees, administrative costs, and rental expense, net of rental
income, on the Company's corporate offices.

Pension costs (income) related to the Australian defined benefit
plan for the Asia Pacific Fibre Cement segment totalling $1.8
million, ($0.2) million and $0.9 million in fiscal years 2000, 2001
and 2002, respectively, have been included in the General
Corporate segment.

(7) The Company does not report net interest expense for each
reportable segment as reportable segments are not held directly
accountable for interest expense.

(8) The Company does not report deferred tax assets and
liabilities for each reportable segment as reportable segments are
not held directly accountable for deferred taxes. All deferred taxes
are included in General Corporate.

(9) Additions to property, plant and equipment are calculated on
an accrual basis, and therefore differ from property, plant and
equipment in the consolidated statement of cash flows. In fiscal
year 2001, $31.1 million of property, plant and equipment
additions reported in the Other segment were related to fibre
cement reinforced pipes in the United States.

Concentrations of Risk
The distribution channels for the Company's fibre cement
products are concentrated. If the Company were to lose one or
more of its major distributors, there can be no assurance that the
Company will be able to find a replacement. Therefore, the loss of
one or more distributors could have a material adverse effect on
the Company's consolidated results of operations, cash flows and
financial position. The Company has two major distributors that
individually each account for over 10% of the Company’s sales.

These two distributors represented 26% and 40% of the
Company's trade accounts receivable at March 31, 2001 and
2002, respectively. Sales generated by these two distributors are
from the US Fibre Cement segment and are as follows:

Years Ended March 31
(Millions of US dollars) 2000 2001 2002
Distributor A $ 100.2 $ 94.8 $ 124.9
Distributor B 124.6 155.3 168.8

$ 224.8 $ 250.1 $ 293.7

Approximately 26% of the Company's fiscal 2002 revenues from
continuing operations were derived from sales outside the United
States. Consequently, changes in the value of foreign currencies
could significantly affect the consolidated results of operations,
cash flows and financial position of the Company's non-US
operations on translation into US dollars.

20. Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The following are the components of total accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of related tax, which is displayed in the
balance sheet:

March 31
(Millions of US dollars) 2001 2002
Net unrealized (loss) gain on available-for-sale securities $ (1.2) $ 0.1
Unrealized transition loss on derivative instruments classified as cash flow hedges – (4.9)
Accumulated amortisation of unrealized transition loss on derivative instruments – 1.1
Foreign currency losses on translation of foreign subsidiaries (43.0) (57.8)
Total accumulated other comprehensive loss $ (44.2) $ (61.5)
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21. Purchases of Assets of a Business

On December 12, 2001, the Company acquired the net assets of
Cemplank, Inc, primarily fibre cement equipment, for $40.8 million
in cash. The acquisition was accounted for under the purchase
method of accounting and, accordingly, the statements of
consolidated income include the results of operations arising from
these net assets beginning December 12, 2001. The pro forma
effect on the Company's results of operations for fiscal years
2001 and 2002 are not material to the consolidated financial
statements of JHI NV.

22. Remuneration of Directors

Income paid or payable, or otherwise made available by the
Company and related parties to Directors of the Company in
connection with the management of affairs of the Company
totalled $7.9 million and $9.8 million for the years ended March
31, 2001 and 2002, respectively.

Remuneration for non-executive Directors comprises fees 
for attendance at meetings of the Board of Directors and its 
sub-committees. Remuneration for the executive Director is
determined on the same basis as for other executives as
described in Note 23 below.

23. Remuneration of Executives

Remuneration received or receivable from the Company by all
executives (including Directors) whose remuneration was at least
$100,000 was $9.0 million in each of the years ended March 31,
2001 and 2002. Remuneration for each executive includes salary,
incentives, superannuation, retirement and termination payments,
motor vehicles, fringe benefits tax and other benefits.

The number of such executives within the specified bands are as
follows:

March 31
(US dollars) 2001 2002
$ 130,000 – $ 139,999 – 1
$ 150,000 – $ 159,999 1 –
$ 170,000 – $ 179,999 1 –
$ 180,000 – $ 189,999 – 1
$ 200,000 – $ 209,999 2 –
$ 210,000 – $ 219,999 1 –
$ 220,000 – $ 229,999 1 –
$ 230,000 – $ 239,999 1 –
$ 250,000 – $ 259,999 1 –
$ 260,000 – $ 269,999 1 –
$ 290,000 – $ 299,999 – 1
$ 340,000 – $ 349,999 2 –
$ 350,000 – $ 359,999 – 1
$ 400,000 – $ 409,999 2 –
$ 460,000 – $ 469,999 1 –
$ 470,000 – $ 479,999 – 1
$ 490,000 – $ 499,999 1 1
$ 550,000 – $ 559,999 1 –
$ 620,000 – $ 629,999 – 1
$ 630,000 – $ 639,999 1 –
$ 740,000 – $ 749,999 1 –
$ 750,000 – $ 759,999 1 1
$ 890,000 – $ 899,999 1 –
$ 1,010,000 – $ 1,019,999 1 –
$ 1,140,000 – $ 1,149,999 – 1
$ 1,160,000 – $ 1,169,999 – 1 
$ 1,250,000 – $ 1,259,999 – 1
$ 2,120,000 – $ 2,129,999 – 1

21 12

An executive is defined as the Chief Executive Officer, members 
of the Group Management Team, General Managers of Business
Units and the Company Secretaries of JHI NV.

Remuneration is determined on the basis of the cost of the
remuneration to the Company, but excludes insurance premiums
paid by the Company in respect of directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance contracts as set out in the Directors Report on page 37.

Options are valued using the Black-Scholes method and the fair
value of options granted is included in remuneration. 

Shares issued to executives under the Executive Share Purchase
Plan are deemed to have no remuneration value as they were
issued at the market price at the date of issue.
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24. Remuneration of Auditors

Remuneration to PricewaterhouseCoopers for audit or review 
of the financial reports of the Company or any of the Company’s
subsidiaries totalled $0.8 million for the year ended March 31,
2002 and remuneration to PricewaterhouseCoopers for other
services totalled $1.2 million for the year ended March 31, 2002.
Other services include advice on divestment of businesses, advice
on the corporate structure and various taxation matters. Excluded
from other services are amounts relating to the 2001
Reorganisation (see Note 14).

25. Related Party Transactions

Directors
The names of persons who were Directors of JHI NV at any time
during the financial year are set out in the Directors Report on
page 37.

Remuneration and retirement benefits
Information on remuneration of Directors and Directors retirement
benefits is disclosed in the Directors Report. 

JHI NV Directors’ securities transactions
The Company's Directors and their director-related entities held an
aggregate of 13,901,255 ordinary shares and 8,824,755 ordinary
shares at March 31, 2001 and 2002, respectively, and 1,200,000
options and 1,824,000 million options at March 31, 2001 and
2002, respectively.

AG McGregor is a director of a company which is a custodian 
of a charitable trust which sold 5,121,000 JHI NV CUFS on the
Australian Stock Exchange Ltd during the year ended March 31,
2002.  AG McGregor has no beneficial interest or entitlement to
the securities or proceeds from the sale. 

M Hellicar participated in JHI NV's Share Purchase Plan and was
allotted 500 CUFS at the Plan price of A$5.56 on March 27,
2002.

The capital return paid by JHI NV on December 20, 2001 and
JHIL dividend paid June 14, 2001 to Directors and their related
entities were on the same terms and conditions that applied to
other holders.

On July 12, 2001, JHIL shareholders approved the Peter Donald
Macdonald 2001 Share Option Plan. PD Macdonald was granted
624,000 JHIL options on July 13,  2001 which transitioned into
JHI NV options. Full details are set out in Note 17.

MM Koffel is Chairman and Chief Executive of URS Corporation,
from which James Hardie purchases engineering services. All
transactions were negotiated in accordance with usual commercial
terms and conditions. It is not considered that this director had
significant influence over these transactions.

Loans Made by the Company to Directors 
of James Hardie Subsidiaries
At March 31, 2001 and 2002, loans totalling $950,835 and
$414,430 were outstanding from directors of JHI NV and its
subsidiaries under the terms and conditions of the Executive
Share Purchase Plan (the Plan). Loans under the Plan are interest
free and repayable from dividend income earned by or capital
returns from securities acquired under the Plan. The loans are
collateralised by CUFS under the Plan.

During fiscal years 2001 and 2002, repayments totalling 
$39,959 and $166,161, respectively, were received in respect of
the Plan from SL Broderick, KS Brown, DE Cameron, CR Forster, 
A Grewal, AT Kneeshaw, PD Macdonald, AR Mann, JL Moller, 
PG Morley, DA Salter, PJ Shafron, GM Smith, G Stanmore and 
DK Worley.  During fiscal year 2002 certain directors of James
Hardie subsidiaries were appointed with loans of $73,922 on
appointment. During fiscal years 2001 and 2002, directors
resigned with loans outstanding totalling $236,686 and $521,777,
respectively,  at the date of their resignation. These amounts are
repayable within two years under the terms of the Plan. During the
year, a James Hardie director R Rugg received a loan of $240,652
to exercise 80,350 JHI NV options at A$3.72 each and 46,057
JHI NV options at A$3.68 each. Also, director V Lester received 
a loan of $8,709 to exercise 4,606 JHI NV options at A$3.68. 
Both of these loans have been fully repaid during fiscal year 2002.

Payments Made to Directors and Director Related Entities
of the Company's Subsidiaries During the Year
Payments of $3,305 for the year ended March 31, 2002 were
made to Grech, Vella, Tortell & Hyzler Advocates. Dr. JJ Vella 
was a director of a number of the Company's subsidiaries. 
The payments were in respect of professional services and 
were negotiated in accordance with usual commercial terms 
and conditions. 

Payments of $89,433 and $78,184 for the years ended 
March 31, 2001 and 2002, respectively, were made to Pether and
Associates Pty Ltd, technical contractors. JF Pether is a director
of a subsidiary of the Company and a director of Pether and
Associates Pty Ltd. The payments were in respect of technical
services and were negotiated in accordance with usual
commercial terms and conditions.



The information furnished in the selected quarterly financial data for the years ended March 31, 2001 and 2002 is unaudited but includes
all adjustments which, in the opinion of management, are necessary for a fair statement of the financial results of the respective interim
periods. Such adjustments are of a normal recurring nature. Interim financial statements are by necessity somewhat tentative; judgments
are used to estimate interim amounts for items that are normally determinable only on an annual basis. 

Year Ended March 31, 2001 Year Ended March 31, 2002
(Millions of US dollars) By Quarter By Quarter

First Second Third Fourth First Second Third Fourth

Net sales $ 144.4 $ 141.1 $ 129.1 $ 126.3 $ 148.6 $ 155.5 $ 144.8 $ 158.0
Cost of goods sold (94.7) (93.1) (86.6) (86.4) (102.8) (99.7) (95.6) (103.5)
Gross profit $ 49.7 $ 48.0 $ 42.5 $ 39.9 $ 45.8 $ 55.8 $ 49.2 $ 54.5

Operating profit (loss) $ 16.2 $ 14.2 $ 14.4 $ (3.9) $ 11.3 $ 17.8 $ (2.9) $ 20.7
Interest expense (5.5) (5.2) (5.2) (5.5) (5.9) (4.9) (4.1) (3.5)
Interest income 2.4 2.6 2.1 1.1 0.6 0.8 0.8 0.2
Other income (expense), net 0.7 0.9 (0.1) 0.1 (1.2) 0.5 –  0.3

Income (loss) from 
continuing operations
before income taxes 13.8 12.5 11.2 (8.2) 4.8 14.2 (6.2) 17.7

Income tax (expense) 
benefit (2.5) (1.1) (1.2) 5.1 (1.2) (3.7) 5.8 (4.8)

Income (loss) from 
continuing operations 11.3 11.4 10.0 (3.1) 3.6 10.5 (0.4) 12.9 

Discontinued operations:
Income (loss) from 

discontinued operations 15.5 7.0 0.6 0.9 (4.8) 0.2 2.9 1.4
Gain (loss) on disposal of

discontinued operations –  (17.8) 0.2 2.5 0.3 (0.3) 2.1 0.9
Income (loss) from 

discontinued operations 15.5 (10.8) 0.8 3.4 (4.5) (0.1) 5.0 2.3

Cumulative effect of change 
in accounting principal (0.3) –  –  –  –  –  –  –  
Net income (loss) $ 26.5 $ 0.6 $ 10.8 $ 0.3 $ (0.9) $ 10.4 $ 4.6 $ 15.2
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(Millions of US dollars) 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002

Profit and Loss Account
Sales
US Fibre Cement $ 181.1 $ 245.6 $ 310.5 $ 373.0 $ 444.8
Asia Pacific Fibre Cement 226.0 181.4 203.3 166.6 156.9
Other – – – – 4.2 
Segment total 407.1 427.0 513.8 539.6 605.9
General Corporate 2.5 2.2 2.0 1.3 1.0
Worldwide total $ 409.6 $ 429.2 $ 515.8 $ 540.9 $ 606.9 

Operating Profit
US Fibre Cement $ 37.6 $ 48.9 $ 72.3 $ 73.5 $ 85.8
Asia Pacific Fibre Cement 30.8 16.7 19.8 4.4 22.4
Research and Development (11.8) (10.6) (11.3) (6.5) (10.0)
Other – – – (2.9) (8.2)
Eliminate intercompany transactions –  –  2.3 1.7 –
Segments total 56.6 55.0 83.1 70.2 90.0
General Corporate (15.4) (35.7) (22.9) (29.3) (43.1)
Total operating profit 41.2 19.3 60.2 40.9 46.9
Net interest expense (21.7) (15.5) (20.5) (13.2) (16.0)
Other (expense) income, net (12.1) 5.4 (1.6) 1.6 (0.4)
Equity income 6.2 – – – –
Income from continuing operations before tax 13.6 9.2 38.1 29.3 30.5
Income tax (expense) benefit (17.5) (3.1) (13.5) 0.3 (3.9)
(Loss) income from continuing operations $ (3.9) $ 6.1 $ 24.6 $ 29.6 $ 26.6

Dividends paid $ 28.1 $ 38.0 $ 42.0 $ 43.0 $ 20.3

Balance Sheet
Net current assets $ 354.8 $ 95.1 $ 180.3 $ 84.9 $ 115.0
Total assets 1,136.0 807.2 777.7 902.3 913.5
Long-term debt 496.3 366.4 346.5 357.3 325.0
Shareholders’ equity $ 191.2 $ 161.8 $ 244.7 $ 281.1 $ 370.4

Other Statistics
Number of employees:
US Fibre Cement 540 826 858 1,140 1,177
Asia Pacific Fibre Cement 1,527 1,511 1,302 1,179 1,041
Research and Development 128 99 67 58 51
Other –  –  –  84 108
Corporate 91 97 80 60 35
Total from continuing operations 2,286 2,533 2,307 2,521 2,412

Group Statistics
(Not forming part of the Financial Statements)
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(Millions of US dollars) 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002
Other Statistics
Number of shareholders 17,632 19,279 19,302 21,484 22,259
Weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding:

Basic 403.0 407.0 407.0 409.6 438.4
Diluted 403.0 407.0 407.0 409.6 440.4

Capital expenditures [1] $ 101.1 $ 63.3 $ 45.4 $115.6 $ 50.8
Depreciation and amortisation [2] $ 19.3 $ 16.6 $ 21.3 $ 20.8 $ 23.7
Dividends paid per share [3] 7.0¢ 9.3¢ 10.3¢ 10.4¢ 4.6¢
Return of capital per share [4] –  – –  –  5.0¢
Basic (loss) earnings per share – continuing operations [5] (1.0¢) 1.5¢ 6.0¢ 7.2¢ 6.1¢
Diluted (loss) earnings per share – continuing operations [6] (1.0¢) 1.5¢ 6.0¢ 7.2¢ 6.0¢
Gearing ratio [7] 49.0% 67.8% 48.8% 56.1% 44.7%

Notes:

[1] Capital investment on property, plant and equipment includes both cash and credit purchases, and is for continuing businesses only.

[2] Information for depreciation and amortisation is for continuing businesses only.

[3] Dividends paid divided by the weighted average number of ordinary and employee shares on issue during the year.

[4] On December 20, 2001, the Company paid a capital return of $0.05 per share to shareholders for a total of $22.5 million.

[5] Net (loss) income divided by the weighted average number of ordinary and employee shares on issue during the year.

[6] Diluted EPS is similar to basic EPS except that the weighted average number of common shares outstanding is increased to include
the number of additional common shares that would have been outstanding if the dilutive potential common shares, such as options,
had been issued.

[7] Borrowings less cash (net debt) divided by net debt plus total shareholders’ equity.

Group Statistics
(Not forming part of the Financial Statements)
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